Public Document Pack

15 July 2022

To:

Councillors Baker, G Coleman, Farrell, Kirkland, O'Hara, Owen, Robertson BEM and
Stansfield

The above members are requested to attend the:

PLANNING COMMITTEE
Tuesday, 26 July 2022 at 6.00 pm
In the Council Chamber, Town Hall, Blackpool FY1 1GB

AGENDA
1

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Members are asked to declare any interests in the items under consideration and in
doing so state:
(1) the type of interest concerned either
(a)
(b)
(c)

personal interest
prejudicial interest
disclosable pecuniary interest (DPI)

and
(2) the nature of the interest concerned
If any member requires advice on declarations of interests, they are advised to contact
the Head of Democratic Governance in advance of the meeting.
2

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 14 JUNE 2022

(Pages 1 - 8)

To agree the minutes of the last meeting held on 14 June 2022 as a true and correct
record.
3

PLANNING/ENFORCEMENT APPEALS LODGED AND DETERMINED

(Pages 9 - 12)

The Committee will be requested to note the planning/enforcement appeals lodged
and determined.

4

PLANNING ENFORCEMENT UPDATE REPORT - MAY 2022

(Pages 13 - 16)

The Committee will be asked to note the outcomes of the cases and support the
actions of the Service Manager, Public Protection.
5

PLANNING ENFORCEMENT UPDATE REPORT - JUNE 2022

(Pages 17 - 22)

The Committee will be asked to note the outcomes of the cases and support the
actions of the Service Manager, Public Protection.
6

PLANNING APPLICATION AND APPEALS PERFORMANCE - QUARTER 4 2021/2022
(Pages 23 - 24)
The Committee to consider an update on the Council’s performance in relation to
Government targets. The report reflects performance in the fourth quarter of the
2021/2022 financial year.

7

PLANNING APPLICATIONS AND APPEALS PERFORMANCE - QUARTER ONE 2021/2022
(Pages 25 - 28)
The Committee to consider an update on the Council’s performance in relation to
Government targets. The report reflects performance in the first quarter of the
2022/2023 financial year.

8

PLANNING APPLICATION 22/0019: ODEON CINEMA, FESTIVAL LEISURE PARK, RIGBY
ROAD, BLACKPOOL
(Pages 29 - 52)
To consider planning application 22/0019 for external alterations including the installation
of glazed shopfronts, cladding, render and additional glazing and use of premises as
altered as indoor sport, recreation or fitness use (Use Class E(d)) with two food and
drink units (Use Class E(b)) to front ground floor at Odeon Cinema, Festival Leisure
Park, Rigby Road.

9

PLANNING APPLICATION 22/0195: UNIT 1 CLIFTON RETAIL PARK, CLIFTON ROAD,
BLACKPOOL
(Pages 53 - 76)
To consider planning application 22/0195 for the erection of 2 storey side extension
and alterations to front elevation of existing building at Unit 1 Clifton Retail Park,
Clifton Road.

10

PLANNING APPLICATION 22/0498: 58-60 HORNBY ROAD, BLACKPOOL (Pages 77 - 86)
To consider planning application 22/0498 for the erection of front terrace and
installation of bi-fold doors at ground floor (resubmission of application 22/0243) at 5860 Hornby Road.

11

PLANNING APPLICATION 21/1062- LAND AT 8 NORBRECK ROAD

(Pages 87 - 112)

To consider Planning Applicatio 21/1062 for the erection of a part 4 storey part 5 storey
building comprising 35 assisted living flats (affordable housing for rent) with shared
residential areas and associated landscaping, car parking and external amenity space at
land at 8 Norbreck Road.
12

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
To note the date of the next meeting as 6 September 2022.

Venue information:
First floor meeting room (lift available), accessible toilets (ground floor), no-smoking building.
Other information:
For queries regarding this agenda please contact Jenni Cook, Democratic Governance Senior
Adviser, Tel: (01253) 477212, e-mail jennifer.cook@blackpool.gov.uk
Copies of agendas and minutes of Council and committee meetings are available on the
Council’s website at www.blackpool.gov.uk.

This page is intentionally left blank

Public Document Pack

Agenda Item 2

MINUTES OF PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING - TUESDAY, 14 JUNE 2022

Present:
Councillor Owen (in the Chair)
Councillors
Baker
G Coleman

Farrell
Kirkland

O'Hara
Stansfield

In Attendance:
Susan Parker, Head of Development Management
Ian Curtis, Legal Officer
Jenni Cook, Democratic Governance Senior Adviser
Latif Patel, Network Planning and Projects Manager
1 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest.
2 MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 22 MARCH 2022
Resolved:
That the minutes of the Planning Committee held on 22 March 2022 be approved and
signed by the Chair as a correct record.
3 PLANNING/ENFORCEMENT APPEALS LODGED AND DETERMINED
The Planning Committee considered a report on planning enforcement appeals lodged
since the last meeting. Two appeals had been lodged and seven appeals determined. Of
the seven appeals determined two had been allowed in respect of Squires Gate Industrial
Estate and the Gypsy and Traveller site at Midgeland Road and Ms Susan Parker, Head of
Development Management, provided the Committee with an overview of these two
appeals. In relation to Squires Gate, the Inspector had attached conditions which dealt
with most of the Planning Officers’ concerns and the Planning Enforcement Team would
remain vigilant in respect of the site.
In relation to the Gypsy and Traveller site refused by the Council and noted at paragraph
7.2 of the officer report, Ms Parker advised the Committee that although the Council had
met its requirements in respect of Gypsy and Traveller provision, should a site be deemed
suitable, planning permission could still be granted, as each application would be
determined under its own merits.
In response to questions from the Committee, Ms Parker confirmed that when the
Inspector allowed an appeal, the Council would only incur costs if the Inspector
determined that the Council had acted in an unreasonable manner, which had not been
the case for either of these appeals.
Resolved:

Page 1

MINUTES OF PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING - TUESDAY, 14 JUNE 2022
To note the update.
4 PLANNING ENFORCEMENT UPDATE REPORT - MARCH 2022
The Planning Committee considered an update on enforcement activity in Blackpool from
1 March 2022 to 31 March 2022.
In total 56 new cases had been registered for investigation in March 2022 and as at 31
March 2022, there were 439 “live” complaints outstanding.
Resolved:
To note the update.
5 PLANNING ENFORCEMENT UPDATE REPORT - APRIL 2022
The Planning Committee considered an update on enforcement activity in Blackpool from
1 April 2022 to 30 April 2022.
In total 54 new cases had been registered for investigation in April 2022 and as at 30 April
2022 there were 422 “live” complaints outstanding.
Resolved:
To note the update.
6 PLANNING APPLICATION 22/0037: ANCHORSHOLME SERVICE STATION, 332
FLEETWOOD ROAD, BLACKPOOL
The Planning Committee considered application number 22/0037 for the erection of a
single storey convenience store and provision of associated parking and landscaping
following demolition of the existing petrol station and convenience store at
Anchorsholme Service Station, 332 Fleetwood Road, Blackpool.
Ms S Parker, Head of Development Management outlined the report and provided a
summary of the application and details of the proposal and noted that the existing retail
unit had a floor space of 161 square metres and the proposed new unit would have a
floor space of 490 square metres, which was approximately three times bigger. The
application site was located on the edge of the defined Anchorsholme Lane local centre,
however this did not fall within a defined shopping area.
The Committee was advised that paragraph 20 of the National Planning Policy Framework
and policy CS4 of the local plan required a proposal such as the proposed development to
be located in accordance with a sequential test. Preference was given to in-centre
locations, edge-of-centre locations, and then to out-of-centre sites. Although the
applicant had submitted a sequential appraisal in support of the proposal, the appraisal
only considered the nearby Anchorsholme Lane local centre and Cleveleys town centre.
No justification for limited the area of search to the northern part of the town had been
given and the Committee was reminded that the identity of the end-retailer was not a
material planning consideration.

Page 2 of the applicant to demonstrate that no
Ms Parker advised that it was the responsibility

MINUTES OF PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING - TUESDAY, 14 JUNE 2022
suitable, available, and sequentially preferable alternative sites were available. Planning
Officers considered that this had not been satisfactorily demonstrated and that there may
be sites capable of accommodating the proposed development within designated
shopping centres elsewhere in the borough. As these had not been considered by the
applicant’s assessment, the sequential test had not been passed.
Ms Parker noted that the applicant had not undertaken an impact appraisal and existing
convenience shopping provision already existed within the local centre in the form of a
Lidl supermarket and a McColl’s convenience store. Both of these stores could be affected
detrimentally by the proposed application and the Committee was advised that the
application had not carried out an assessment of this potential impact.
The site fell within flood zone 3 and a sequential test applied to any development within
flood zones with the order of preference given to development within zones 1 and 2
before development in flood zone 3 could be permitted. Ms Parker advised the
Committee that the applicant had not undertaken a sequential appraisal in relation to
flood risk.
Ms Parker noted that the applicant had contacted Committee members in respect of the
benefits of the application, however, Planning Officers remained of the opinion that their
letter did not raise any substantive new points had not already been addressed in the
report or were not already in the public domain. Although the scheme would result in job
creation and economic development, this did not weigh sufficiently in favour of the
proposal to outweigh the harm that would arise from unjustified retail development
outside of a defined shopping area. The Committee was reminded that whilst all
applications should be considered on their own merits, an approval would make it harder
for the Council to resist similar schemes in similar circumstances, further undermining the
Council’s approach to safeguard the town centre.
The applicant was of the view that that other land uses would not be viable on the site
due to anticipated remediation costs arising from land contamination, however these
costs had not been quantified and therefore Officers were of the view that a substantive
viability case had not been presented. The site was brownfield and in a relatively
prominent position and although re-development of the site would represent effective
use of the land, this could be achieved through other policy-compliant forms of
development and no evidence had been submitted to demonstrate that these other
forms of development had been explored. Ms Parker advised the Committee that the
benefits of re-using the site as proposed did not sufficiently override the harm that could
be caused by undermining the Council’s approach to safeguarding the established retail
hierarchy and managing flood risk.
Ms Parker acknowledged that whilst the scheme, the design and level of parking provision
was considered acceptable and that residential amenity and highway safety, ecology,
drainage and flood risk could be adequately safeguarded through condition, the proposed
scheme remained unacceptable in principle for the reasons set out in the officer report
and as such the Committee was respectfully recommended to refuse planning
permission.
Mr N Tongue spoke in favour of the application on behalf of the applicant and advised the
Page
3
Committee that the site currently housed
a struggling
petrol station and the applicant

MINUTES OF PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING - TUESDAY, 14 JUNE 2022
was preparing to invest £2.5million in the site, which would include demolition costs.
Development of the site would avoid it being vacant in the long-term and prevent any
less-desirable use of the site. In addition the development would create 25 jobs and
support economic development of the area, which was supported by the National
Planning Policy Framework and emerging planning policy.
Mr Tongue advised the Committee that the proposals included five electric vehicle
charging points with the potential for more which could help the Council to meet its ‘Net
Zero’ targets with respect to carbon emissions. A comprehensive sequential assessment
had been carried out which was robust and had been carried out in accordance with
prevailing case law. The applicant considered the submitted flood risk sequential
assessment to be acceptable and the Environment Agency had not noted any concerns.
Mr Tongue drew the Committee’s attention to Section 78 of the Town and Country
Planning Act and respectfully requested that the Committee approved the application.
The Committee discussed the application and the proximity of the nearby Lidl. Ms Parker
clarified the shopping area boundaries were clearly defined and there were no proposals
to change these.
Resolved:
That planning permission is refused for the following reasons:
1. The scheme proposes the development of a convenience store which is a main
town centre use and no satisfactory evidence has been provided to demonstrate
that it complies with the retail sequential test or would not have a significant
adverse impact upon the health of existing centres. As such the proposals are
considered to undermine the retail hierarchy of the established designated
centres and prejudice the Council’s regeneration aims to strengthen the role,
vitality, and viability of the town’s designated centres. The scheme would
therefore be contrary to Policy CS4 of the Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core
Strategy 2012-2027, Policies BH14 and BH16 of the Blackpool Local Plan 20012016, and Section 7 of the National Planning Policy Framework.
2. The scheme proposes development within Flood Zone 3 and no satisfactory
evidence has been provided to demonstrate that it complies with the flood risk
sequential test. As such, the proposals are considered to undermine the Council’s
efforts to manage impacts of flooding and direct new development to areas of
lowest flood risk. The scheme would therefore be contrary to Policy CS9 of the
Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 2012-2027 and Section 14 of the
National Planning Policy Framework.
7 PLANNING APPLICATION: 22/0054: FORMER BAGULEYS GARDEN CENTRE,
MIDGELAND ROAD, BLACKPOOL
The Planning Committee considered planning application 22/0054 for the erection of 5
detached bungalows for people of the age of 55, with associated garages, landscaping
and utilising existing access from Midgeland Road (via Birchwood Gardens) at the former
Baguley’s Garden Centre, Midgeland Road, Blackpool.
Ms S Parker, Head of Development Management, outlined the report and provided a
Page
summary of the application and details
of the4proposal. The application was in respect of

MINUTES OF PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING - TUESDAY, 14 JUNE 2022
land bound by Stockydale Road to the east, houses to the north and south, and the
former Baguleys garden centre to the west. The site had an extensive planning history
and Ms Parker provided a brief summary of this, drawing the Committee’s attention to an
outline planning permission granted in 2012 for 36 dwellings covering both the
application site and adjoining land. This had been granted during a time when the council
had been unable to demonstrate a five-year supply of housing land and consequently the
‘tilted planning balance’ had applied. Although reserved matters approval was granted in
2016, the permission was never implemented and lapsed in September 2018. By then, the
Council was able to demonstrate a five-year housing land supply and the tilted planning
balance no longer applied to override the policies which prevented development on
Marton Moss. In 2019 planning permission was granted for 12 bungalows on the former
Baguleys site as the site was previously developed land and in poor condition. The land
outlined in the application remained as undeveloped greenfield land and the applicant
was advised that development of this site would not be supported until a Neighbourhood
Plan, identifying it as suitable for housing, had been adopted.
The current application sought planning permission for five bungalows each with an
attached garage, and the bungalows would accommodate people over 55 years of age.
Ms Parker drew the Committee’s attention to the Update Note, which stated that the
garages had been repositioned to pull them away from Stockydale Road to alleviate the
concern that they would appear overly-prominent in the street scene. Two garages would
be linked, which would make two of the properties effectively semi-detached and in
terms of design and levels of amenity and car parking, no objections were raised,
biodiversity could be appropriately safeguarded for or compensated for and no undue
impacts on environmental quality were anticipated.
The proposal did not generate a requirement for contributions towards local education or
health provision and included sufficient public open space to meet identified needs. A
financial contribution towards affordable housing would be required and the Committee
was advised that until a Supplementary Planning Document was in place, there was
currently no method with which to calculate a contribution.
The Committee was informed that nine representations of support, four of which come
from residents of the new development on the old Baguleys site had been received. One
representation had raised concerns about drainage and flooding and if the Committee
was minded to approve the application then these could be dealt with by planning
condition.
Ms Parker advised the Committee that despite the considerations in favour of the
proposal the recommendation remained one of refusal as the legal starting point for the
determination of planning applications was the Development Plan. Policy CS26 of the
Core Strategy, which formed part of the Development Plan, precluded development (that
did not accord with strict criteria) in advance of the adoption of a Neighbourhood Plan.
There was currently no Neighbourhood Plan in place for the area meaning that the
proposal was contrary to the provision of adopted Policy CS26 and the Council was not in
a position of housing need, meaning that a tilted planning balance was not engaged.
The Committee was informed that a draft Neighbourhood Plan had been published for
consultation and summarised the consultation and adoption process. Ms Parker noted
5
that in accordance with the provisionsPage
of the National
Planning Policy Framework the

MINUTES OF PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING - TUESDAY, 14 JUNE 2022
weight that could be attached to the Neighbourhood Plan would increase as it moved
through the process and at present, the plan was at too early a stage to attach significant
weight to it. The applicant had been advised to hold the application in abeyance until the
Neighbourhood Plan had progressed further, but had requested that it be determined
under the current policy framework, meaning that the full weight of Policy CS26 of the
Core Strategy had been applied. As previously stated and in the opinion of Planning
Officers, the Neighbourhood Plan was currently considered to hold limited weight.
The Committee was respectfully recommended to refuse the application for the first
reason set out in the officer report as the second reason had been addressed through the
submission of amended plans.
Ms J Fox, Fox Planning Consultancy, spoke on behalf of the applicant in favour of the
application and informed the Committee that the previous permission had been for 22
two-storey houses and the current application was for a lower density of development,
being five bungalows. The application was consistent with the aim and objectives of
National Planning Policy, there had been no objections from the Marton Moss Forum, and
there was community support in favour of the application.
Ms Fox advised the Committee that although the land was designated as greenfield, the
land had previously contained buildings and therefore could be considered to be part
brownfield. The site currently had a derelict appearance and was overgrown in places. In
respect of the landscape management plan, retention of the 2.5 metre hedges on
Stockydale Road would act as an effective buffer and soft boundary between urban
development and Marton Moss. The impact on the street scene would be minimal and
would respect the character of the existing development.
Ms K Bannister spoke in favour of the application on behalf of her parents who were
residents on the existing development on behalf of other residents. She advised the
Committee that residents were aware of the site’s planning history, expected that there
would eventually be development on this land and welcomed the addition of five
bungalows. At present fly tipping was taking place on this land, making the current
residents feel vulnerable.
Ms Bannister informed the Committee that the Marton Moss Neighbourhood Forum was
supportive of the additional five bungalows and that the application would support and
enhance the area.
Ms Parker advised the Committee that planning officers did not agree that the application
site could be considered to be part brownfield, that the site was thoroughly vegetated,
and it was the site owner’s responsibility to maintain the land in a good condition.
The Committee discussed the application and the Chair noted that development was
welcomed on the site, however this needed to be at the right time, once the
Neighbourhood Plan was in place and the scheme could be supported by planning policy.
The Committee acknowledged that the previous application was for 22 dwellings and that
it could be some considerable time before the Neighbourhood Plan was approved.
At the invitation of the Chair, Mr I Curtis, Legal Advisor to the Committee, advised that
Page
6 of the Development Plan and, in his view,
the Committee’s starting point was Policy
CS26

MINUTES OF PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING - TUESDAY, 14 JUNE 2022
since policy CS26 was specifically directed to Marton Moss and to the present
circumstances, which were that a neighbourhood plan was in active preparation but had
not been made, much weight could be given to the planning officer’s assessment and
recommendation to refuse.
In response to comments made by the Committee, Ms Parker advised that the timeline
for approval of Neighbourhood Plans was driven by the Neighbourhood Forum, not the
Council and re-iterated the adoption process. If the Committee was minded to grant the
application then this could set a precedent for other applications on Marton Moss to be
submitted, before the Neighbourhood Plan was approved and in place.
The Committee acknowledged that Marton Moss was a sensitive area in which
development needed to be controlled in order to protect green space. It was also noted
that the Marton Moss Forum was supportive of the application and that it was rare to see
an application in the area with public support behind it. However, the Committee
acknowledged that an approval at this stage, prior to the due process of the
Neighbourhood Plan, could set a precedent.
Resolved:
That the application is refused for the following reason:
1. The proposals would occupy greenfield land and would not meet any of the
specified circumstances in which new residential development would be
acceptable within the Marton Moss Strategic Site in advance of the adoption of a
Neighbourhood Plan for the area. As proposed, the development would have a
significant and unacceptable impact upon the green, open and semi-rural
character of this area of the Moss. No material planning considerations have been
identified which would outweigh this conflict with policy. Whilst all applications
must be determined on their own merits, an approval in this instance would make
it harder for the Council to resist similar proposals in similar circumstances which
would lead to a greater cumulative impact. As such, the scheme would have an
unacceptable impact on the character of the Marton Moss Strategic Site and
would be contrary to Policy CS26 of the Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy
2012-2027.
8 DATE OF NEXT MEETING
Resolved:
To note the date of the next meeting as 26 July 2022.

Chairman
(The meeting ended at 6.51 pm)
Any queries regarding these minutes, please contact:
Jenni Cook Democratic Governance Senior Adviser
Tel: (01253) 477212

Page 7

MINUTES OF PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING - TUESDAY, 14 JUNE 2022
E-mail: jennifer.cook@blackpool.gov.uk

Page 8

Agenda Item 3
Report to:

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Relevant Officer:

Susan Parker, Head of Development Management

Date of Meeting:

26 July 2022

PLANNING/ENFORCEMENT APPEALS LODGED AND DETERMINED
1.0

Purpose of the report:

1.1

The Committee is requested to note the planning and enforcement appeals, lodged
and determined.

2.0

Recommendation(s):

2.1

To note the report.

3.0

Reasons for recommendation(s):

3.1

To provide the Committee with a summary of planning appeals for information.

3.2

Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or
approved by the Council?

No

3.3

Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved
budget?

Yes

4.0

Other alternative options to be considered:

4.1

None, the report is for information only.

5.0

Council Priority:

5.1

The relevant Council priorities are both ‘The Economy: maximising growth and
opportunity across Blackpool’ and ‘Communities: creating stronger communities and
increasing resilience’.

6.0

Planning Appeals Lodged

6.1.1

21/0485 – 131 CAUNCE STREET, BLACKPOOL, FY1 3NG - Installation of new shop front
and roller shutter to side elevation following demolition of bay windows.
An appeal has been lodged by Mr Krishnamoorthy against the Council’s refusal of Planning
Permission

Page 9

6.1.2

21/0807 – 131 CAUNCE STREET, BLACKPOOL, FY1 3NG - Alterations to shop front to
replace doorway (resubmission of application 21/0485).

An appeal has been lodged by Mr Krishnamoorthy against the Council’s refusal of Planning
Permission
6.1.3

22/0036 – 338 MIDGELAND ROAD, BLACKPOOL, FY4 5HZ - Erection of single storey
detached garage.
An appeal has been lodged by Mr Collier-Baker against the Council’s refusal of Planning
Permission

6.1.4

22/0061 – 159-163 DEVONSHIRE ROAD, BLACKPOOL, FY3 8BQ- Display 1 LED screen
to side of 368 Talbot Road.
An appeal has been lodged by Global against the Council’s refusal of Advertisement
Consent.

6.1.5

21/8096 - 1 BROOKFIELD AVENUE, BLACKPOOL, FY4 5HF - Erection of a timber
structure to the rear without planning permission
An Appeal has been lodged by Mr Curtis Francis against an Enforcement Notice
served by Blackpool Council on 9 May 2022

7.0

Planning/Enforcement Appeals Determined

7.1

None
The Planning Inspectorate decision letters can be viewed online at
https://idoxpa.blackpool.gov.uk/online-applications/. An exception is the appeal
decision in relation to enforcement appeal ref. 19/8316 as this relates to an
enforcement case rather than a refusal of planning permission. As such this decision
is attached.

7.2

Does the information submitted include any exempt information?

8.0

List of Appendices

8.1

None.

9.0

Financial considerations
None.

Page 10

No

10.0

Legal considerations

10.1

None.

11.0

Risk management considerations

11.1

None.

12.0

Equalities considerations

12.1

None.

13.0

Sustainability, climate change and environmental considerations:

13.1

None.

14.0

Internal/ External Consultation undertaken:

14.1

None.

15.0

Background papers:

15.1

None.

Page 11

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4
Report to:

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Relevant Officer:

Tim Coglan, Head of Public Protection

Date of Meeting:

26 July 2022

PLANNING ENFORCEMENT UPDATE – MAY 2022
1.0

Purpose of the report:

1.1

The Committee is requested to consider the summary of planning enforcement activity
within Blackpool, between 1 May 2022 and 31 May 2022.

2.0

Recommendation(s):

2.1

To note the outcomes of the cases set out below and to support the actions of the Service
Manager, Public Protection Department, in authorising the notices set out below.

3.0

Reasons for recommendation(s):

3.1

The Committee is provided with a summary of planning enforcement activity for its
information.

3.2

Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or approved by the
Council?

No

3.3

Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved budget?

Yes

4.0

Other alternative options to be considered:

4.1

Not applicable.

5.0

Council priority:

5.1

The relevant Council priorities are both ‘The Economy: maximising growth and opportunity
across Blackpool’ and ‘Communities: creating stronger communities and increasing
resilience’.

Page 13

6.0

Background information

6.1

Cases

New ca New Cases
In total, 41 new cases were registered for investigation in May 2022.
As at 31 May 2022, there were 452 “live” complaints outstanding.
Resolved cases
In total, 8 cases were resolved by negotiation without recourse to formal action.
Closed cases
In total, 21 cases were closed. These cases include those where there was no breach of
planning control found, no action was appropriate, or where it was considered not expedient
to take action.
Formal enforcement notices / s215 notices








No enforcement notices were authorised in May 2022;
One s215 notice was authorised in May 2022;
No Breach of Condition notices were authorised in May 2022;
Two enforcement notices were issued in May 2022;
No s215 notices were issued in May 2022;
No Breach of Condition notice s were issued in May 2022;
One Community Protection Notice (‘CPN’) was issued in May 2022.

Notices authorised
Ref
21/8411

Address
141-143 Lytham
Road
(FY1 6EX)

Case
Poor condition of property

Page 14

Dates
s215 Notice
authorised
05/05/2022

Notices issued
Ref
21/8434

Address
2 Sowerby
Avenue (FY4 3EH)

Case
Poor condition of
empty property

Dates
CPN issued
26/05/2022 – due for
compliance by
26/06/2022

16/8091

35 Bond Street
(FY4 1BQ)

Unauthorised
conversion of the
basement into selfcontained living
accommodation

Enforcement Notice
issued 25/05/2022 –
compliance due by
30/08/2022

21/8096

1 Brookfield
Avenue
(FY4 5HF)

Unauthorised
erection of a timber
structure to the rear

Enforcement Notice
issued 09/05/2022 –
appeal lodged with
PINS

6.2

Does the information submitted include any exempt information?

7.0

List of Appendices:

7.1

None.

8.0

Financial considerations:

8.1

None.

9.0

Legal considerations:

9.1

None.

10.0

Risk management considerations:

10.1

None.

11.0

Equalities considerations:

11.1

None.

12.0

Sustainability, climate change and environmental considerations:

12.1

None.

Page 15

No

13.0

Internal/external consultation undertaken:

13.1

None.

14.0

Background papers:

14.1

None.

Page 16

Agenda Item 5
Report to:

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Relevant Officer:

Tim Coglan, Head of Public Protection

Date of Meeting:

26 July 2022

PLANNING ENFORCEMENT UPDATE
1.0

Purpose of the report:

1.1

The Committee is requested to consider the summary of planning enforcement activity
within Blackpool, between 1 June 2022 and 30 June 2022.

2.0

Recommendation(s):

2.1

To note the outcomes of the cases set out below and to support the actions of the Service
Manager, Public Protection Department, in authorising the notices set out below.

3.0

Reasons for recommendation(s):

3.1

The Committee is provided with a summary of planning enforcement activity for its
information.

3.2

Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or approved by the
Council?

No

3.3

Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved budget?

Yes

4.0

Other alternative options to be considered:

4.1

Not applicable.

5.0

Council priority:

5.1

The relevant Council priorities are both ‘The Economy: maximising growth and opportunity
across Blackpool’ and ‘Communities: creating stronger communities and increasing
resilience’.

Page 17

6.0

Background information

6.1

Cases

New ca New Cases
In total, 65 new cases were registered for investigation in June 2022.
As at 30th June 2022, there were 459 “live” complaints outstanding.
Resolved cases
In total, 13 cases were resolved by negotiation without recourse to formal action.
Closed cases
In total, 38 cases were closed. These cases include those where there was no breach of
planning control found, no action was appropriate, or where it was considered not expedient
to take action.
Formal enforcement notices / s215 notices








No enforcement notices were authorised in June 2022;
Three s215 notices were authorised in June 2022;
One Breach of Condition notice was authorised in June 2022;
No enforcement notices were issued in June 2022;
One s215 notice was issued in June 2022;
No Breach of Condition notices were issued in June 2022;
Four Community Protection Notices (‘CPN’) were issued in June 2022.

Page 18

Notices authorised
Ref
21/8252

Address
31 Oxford Road
(FY1 3QL)

Case
Poor condition of property

Dates
s215 Notice
authorised
13/06/2022

22/8094

86 Adelaide
Street
(FY1 4LA)

Poor condition of property

s215 Notice
authorised
14/06/2022

14/8189

18-20 Hesketh
Avenue
(FY2 9JX)

Poor condition of property

s215 Notice
authorised
20/06/2022

18/8078

79 Palatine
Road (FY1 4BX)

Unauthorised use as a HMO BCN authorised
in breach of condition 2 on 27/06/2022
11/0338 (the
accommodation shall not be
occupied other than by up
to 6 persons in full time
education)

Notices issued
Ref
20/8316

Address
60 Foxhall Road
(FY1 5BW)

Case
Poor condition of
property

Dates
s215 notice issued
13/06/2022 – due for
compliance
21/10/2022 unless an
appeal is submitted
by 21/08/2022

18/8422

37 Albert Road
(FY1 4TA)

Poor condition of
empty property

CPN issued
07/06/2022 – due for
compliance by
15/07/2022

20/8463

4 Kirby Road
(FY1 6EB)

Poor condition of
empty property

CPN issued
07/06/2022 – due for

Page 19

compliance by
15/07/2022
19/8197

53 Palatine Road
(FY1 4BX)

Poor condition of
empty property

CPN issued
08/06/2022 – due for
compliance by
07/07/2022

18/8381

105 Knowle
Avenue
(FY2 9UU)

Poor condition of
empty property

CPN issued
14/06/2022 – due for
compliance by
14/08/2022

6.2

Does the information submitted include any exempt information?

7.0

List of Appendices:

7.1

None.

8.0

Financial considerations:

8.1

None.

9.0

Legal considerations:

9.1

None.

10.0

Risk management considerations:

10.1

None.

11.0

Equalities considerations:

11.1

None.

12.0

Sustainability, climate change and environmental considerations:

12.1

None.

13.0

Internal/external consultation undertaken:

13.1

None.

Page 20

No

14.0

Background papers:

14.1

None.

Page 21

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
Report to:

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Relevant Officer:

Susan Parker, Head of Development Management

Date of Meeting:

26 July 2022

PLANNING APPLICATIONS AND APPEALS PERFORMANCE – QUARTER 4
1.0

Purpose of the report:

1.1

To update the Committee of the Council’s performance in relation to Government targets.
This report reflects performance in the fourth quarter of the 2021/2022 financial year.

2.0

Recommendation(s):

2.1

To note the report.

3.0

Reasons for recommendation(s):

3.1

To provide the Committee with a summary of performance.

3.2

Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or
approved by the Council?

No

3.2

Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved
budget?

Yes

4.0

Other alternative options to be considered:
None the report is for information only.

5.0

Council Priority:

5.1

The relevant Council priorities are both ‘The Economy: maximising growth and
opportunity across Blackpool’ and ‘Communities: creating stronger communities and
increasing resilience’.

6.0

Background Information

6.1

The Government sets targets for the speed of planning decisions.
 Major applications – 60% to be determined within 13 weeks or an agreed Extension of
Time
 Non-major applications – 70% to be determined within 8 weeks or an agreed Extension
of Time

Page 23

6.2

The Council’s performance must be reported to Government on a quarterly basis.

6.3

For the quarter of January – March 2021, the Council’s performance in terms of speed was
as follows:
 Major applications – none determined
 Non-major applications – 94.7% determined within 8 weeks or an agreed Extension of
Time

6.4

The Council has therefore exceeded the statutory targets in this quarter.

6.5

Does the information submitted include any exempt information?

7.0

List of Appendices

No

None.
8.0

Financial considerations:

8.1

Poor performance puts the Council at risk of designation and the potential for loss of fee
income.

9.0

Legal considerations:

9.1

Performance is influenced by staffing numbers, sickness and leave.

10.0

Risk management considerations:

10.1

Performance is influenced by staffing numbers, sickness and leave. Under-resourcing of
the service could lead to inability to respond to peaks in workload

11.0

Equalities considerations:

11.1

None.

12.0

Sustainability, climate change and environmental considerations:

12.1

None.

13.0

Internal/ External Consultation undertaken:

13.1

Not applicable.

14.0

Background Papers

14.1

None.

Page 24

Agenda Item 7
Report to:

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Relevant Officer:

Susan Parker, Head of Development Management

Date of Meeting:

26 July 2022

PLANNING APPLICATIONS AND APPEALS PERFORMANCE – QUARTER
ONE
1.0

Purpose of the report:

1.1

To update the Committee of the Council’s performance in relation to Government targets.
This report reflects performance in the first quarter of the 2022/2023 financial year.

2.0

Recommendation(s):

2.1

To note the report.

3.0

Reasons for recommendation(s):

3.1

To provide the Committee with a summary of performance.

3.2

Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or
approved by the Council?

No

3.2

Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved
budget?

Yes

4.0

Other alternative options to be considered:

4.1

None the report is for information only.

5.0

Council Priority:

5.1

This report is relevant to both Council priorities:
 Priority 1 - The economy: Maximising growth and opportunity across Blackpool
 Priority 2 – Communities: Creating stronger communities and increasing resilience

6.0

Background Information

6.1

The Government sets targets for the speed of planning decisions.
 Major applications – 60% to be determined within 13 weeks or an agreed Extension of
Time
 Non-major applications – 70% to be determined within 8 weeks or an agreed Extension

Page 25

of Time.
6.2

The Council’s performance must be reported to Government on a quarterly basis.

6.3

For the quarter of April – June 2022, the Council’s performance in terms of speed was as
follows:
 Major applications – 100% determined within 13 weeks or an agreed Extension of Time

 Non-major applications – 95.4% determined within 8 weeks or an agreed Extension of
Time

6.4

The Council has therefore exceeded the statutory targets in this quarter.

6.5

Does the information submitted include any exempt information?

7.0

List of Appendices

No

None.
8.0

Financial considerations:

8.1

Poor performance puts the Council at risk of designation and the potential for loss of fee
income.

9.0

Legal considerations:

9.1

Performance is influenced by staffing numbers, sickness and leave.

10.0

Risk management considerations:

10.1

Performance is influenced by staffing numbers, sickness and leave. Under-resourcing of
the service could lead to inability to respond to peaks in workload

11.0

Equalities considerations:

11.1

None.

12.0

Sustainability, climate change and environmental considerations:

12.1

None.

13.0

Internal/ External Consultation undertaken:

13.1

Not applicable.

Page 26

14.0

Background Papers

14.1

None.

Page 27

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
Blackpool Council
Development Management
Officer Report to Committee

Application ref:
Ward:
Application type:
Location:
Proposal:

22/0019
Bloomfield
Full Planning Permission
Odeon Cinema, Festival Leisure Park, Rigby Road, Blackpool FY1 5EP
External alterations including the installation of glazed shopfronts,
cladding, render and additional glazing and use of premises as altered as
indoor sport, recreation or fitness use (Use Class E(d)) with two food and
drink units (Use Class E(b)) to front ground floor.

Recommendation:
Case officer:
Case officer contact:
Meeting date:

Approve in principle see 2.1 below.
Clare Johnson
01253 476224
26 July 2022

1.0

BLACKPOOL COUNCIL PLAN 2019-2024

1.1

The Council Plan sets out two priorities. The first is ‘the economy: maximising growth and
opportunity across Blackpool’, and the second is ‘communities: creating stronger
communities and increasing resilience.

1.2

This application accords with the first priority in so far as it would create additional
employment opportunities.

2.0

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

2.1

The applicant has demonstrated that there are no sequentially preferable sites available that
are suitable for the development proposed, that the leisure use would not undermine the
character and function of the Resort Core, conflict with the Blackpool Central strategic site
(Leisure Quarter) or other planned investment, and the design of the building has been
amended and is considered to be satisfactory. As such, it is recommended that the
Committee resolves to grant planning permission and delegates authority to the Head of
Development Management to issue the decision notice, once the statutory 21 day
consultation period expires.

3.0

INTRODUCTION

3.1

This application is before Members as this is a major out-of-centre leisure development of
public interest.

3.2

Pre-application advice was sought in respect of this scheme in July 2021 and a meeting was
subsequently held and written advice issued. The principle of the proposal was discussed
including the need for the applicant to demonstrate compliance with the sequential test and
show that the development would not have an unacceptable impact on the health of the
town centre, district or local centres or any planned development such as the Blackpool
Central site.

Page 29

3.3

When initially submitted, the application failed to provide sufficient evidence to
demonstrate compliance with the sequential test and insufficient consideration had been
given to any impacts on the Town Centre, the Blackpool Central site and the nearby local
centre on Central Drive. It was unclear what types of leisure uses could operate from the
site. The design of the façade was considered to be poor and the provision of four small
independently operated food and drink units was considered to be unacceptable. There
were highway concerns also regarding the lack of electric vehicle (EV) charging
infrastructure, cycle and motorcycle parking. The applicant has worked with officers to
amend the scheme to provide design improvements to the façade, amending the car park
layout to accommodate more EV charging spaces, cycle and motorcycle parking, and reduce
the number of food and drink units to two. Additional sequential and impact arguments
have now been accepted and a Statement of Intent has been submitted, giving further
details regarding the range of potential uses and the proposal is now supported by officers.

4.0

SITE DESCRIPTION

4.1

The application relates to the Festival Leisure Park which is bound to the south by Rigby
Road; the west by Seasiders Way; the north by Princess Street; and to the east by Kent Road
and Salthouse Avenue. There are residential properties on all sides of the site with exception
of the former Central Club on Kent Road and a commercial unit on the corner of Rigby Road
and Salthouse Avenue to the east.

4.2

The site is approximately 300m to the south of the Town Centre and Leisure Quarter (as the
crow flies), approximately 75m to the west of the Central Drive Local Centre and abuts the
Resort Core to the west along Seasiders Way.

4.3

At present the site is occupied by a large Odeon multiplex cinema (the application site), a
Bannatynes Fitness Centre, a McDonald's drive-thru and a Frankie and Benny's restaurant. A
Bingo Hall is currently under construction where the former Swift Hound public house was
situated along the eastern boundary of the site. Part of the car park is currently fenced off
around the site of a proposed drive thru café and restaurant which was granted planning
permission in 2021 (21/0867 refers).

4.4

Vehicular access to the site is currently taken from Rigby Road between Frankie and Benny's
and the emerging Bingo Hall, although the main point of access would ultimately move
westward as part of the bingo hall permission. There is a telecoms tower in the northwestern corner of the site and this is served by a second vehicular access from Princess
Street. Pedestrian access is taken from two points on Rigby Road, Kent Road and Princess
Street. A red brick wall with planting strips behind, and the embanked Seasiders Way
demarcate the boundary of the site. A lot of the sites green infrastructure has been lost to
make way for the Bingo Hall but a replacement landscaping scheme has been agreed and
should be implemented once construction has been completed.

4.5

The buildings on the site vary in scale and design but the application site is the largest. The
Odeon building is a purpose built multiplex cinema which is centrally located and the main
focus of the leisure park. The building is around three storeys in scale and has a footprint of
some 4,200sqm.

4.6

The site has no allocation on the Proposals Map to the Local Plan. The site is largely within
flood zone 1 but the surrounding streets are either in flood zone 2 or 3. The building itself is

Page 30

in flood zone 1. The site is within the Inner Area but no other designations or constraints
have been identified.

5.0

DETAILS OF PROPOSAL

5.1

The application proposes the conversion of the Odeon to a family entertainment centre
which would provide a range of indoor sport, recreation or fitness uses as defined by Use
Class E(d), along with two independently accessed food and drink units. The application sets
out that the leisure use will be occupied by a single family orientated leisure operator. A
Statement of Intent describes the range of potential uses for clarity including:
 Bowling
 Trampolining
 Climbing walls
 Crazy golf
 Arcade and video games
 Darts
 Snooker
 Lazer quest
 ‘ninja warrior’ type facility
 Painting and arts and crafts
 Indoor sport such as 5 a side football, tennis or badminton
 Rollerblading and roller skating

5.2

External alterations are proposed to include glazed aluminium shopfronts on the front
(south) elevation and new cladding and render to the upper floors.

5.3

The upper floor cladding around the north, east and west elevations would not be dissimilar
to the existing cladding, although the colour has not been confirmed. The design of the
upper floor of the front (south) elevation introduces projecting triangular windows and
cladding within ordered bays, either side of the existing main entrance feature. The area
around the front entrance is currently buff brick and this would be rendered over along with
small sections of the east and west elevations. The existing canopies would be removed and
replaced by brise-soleil solar shades. The application is accompanied by cross sections and
CGIs to help explain the design of the front elevation.

5.4

13 EV charging points and 12 additional motor bike parking spaces are proposed to serve the
development. The car park is a shared facility with the other uses on the site.

5.5

The application has been supported by:
 Planning and Leisure Statement (including sequential assessment)
 Design and Access Statement
 Noise Assessment
 Transport Statement
 Statement of Intent

6.0

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

6.1

18/0202 – Demolition of existing public house, relocation of the vehicular access and
erection of a bingo hall (Use Class D2) and a drive-thru café/restaurant (Use Class A3) with

Page 31

associated reconfiguration of the ecisting car park and provision of new landscaping –
refused 27/07/2018 but subsequently allowed at appeal.
6.2

21/0867 – Erection of a drive thru café and restaurant, reconfiguration of the existing car
parking layout and associated landscaping and ancillary works – approved 15/12/2021.

6.3

Various other applications have been submitted and determined but none are particularly
relevant to this application.

7.0

MAIN PLANNING ISSUES

7.1

The main planning issues are considered to be:





The principle of the proposed uses
Design and visual impact
Impact on residential amenity
Impact on highways

8.0

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

8.1

Blackpool Airport: No response.

8.2

Cinemas Trust: This Odeon cinema is an out-of-town multiplex with no historic interest, so
we have no comments on the application.

8.3

Police Architectural Liaison Officer: recommends that the scheme is designed and
constructed to Secured by Design security specifications. The response gives advice on CCTV,
alarms, lighting etc to reduce antisocial behaviour and crime and various other security
measures including that the parking facilities should be designed to Park Mark standards. A
request to remove the overhang at the front of the property has also been made.

8.4

Environmental Protection: No reponse.

8.5

Head of Highways and Traffic Management:

8.5.1

No objection to the principle or scale of the proposal.

8.5.2

The site as a whole broadly complies with the parking standards. Cycle parking meets the
standard numerically but the facilities themselves do not. Motorcycle parking does not meet
the required number or standard. Proposed charging facilities do not meet the required
number. I assume that this is the subject of discussion with the developer. Since the site is
largely self-contained I do not see any serious issue/effect beyond the site. The provision of
any type of parking and facility is a matter for the planning authority and also relates to the
attractiveness of the site. I have noted and have no issue with the traffic generation
assessment.

8.5.3

The design of the amended access and off-site highway works is the subject of ongoing
discussions and I anticipate that these will be resolved successfully.

8.5.4

Further to the submission of amended plans, the Head of Highways and Traffic Management
has found the arrangements to be acceptable, subject to further detailed design being
agreed.

Page 32

8.6

Drainage Officer: No impact on drainage.

9.0

REPRESENTATIONS

9.1

Site notice published: 22/01/2022

9.2

Press notice published: to be confirmed in the Update Note.

9.3

Neighbours notified: 17/01/2022

9.4

No representations have been received as a result of the public consultation.

10.0

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

10.1

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

10.1.1 The NPPF was adopted in July 2021. It sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable
development. The following sections are most relevant to this application:






10.2

Section 6 – Building a Strong, Competitive Economy
Section 7 – Ensuring the Vitality of Town Centres
Section 8 - Promoting healthy and safe communities
Section 11 – Making Effective Use of Land
Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places
Section 14 – Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding, and Coastal Change

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

10.2.1 The NPPG expands upon and offers clarity on the points of policy set out in the NPPF.
10.3

Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 2012-2027

10.3.1 The Core Strategy was adopted in January 2016. The following policies are most relevant to
this application:








10.4

CS3
CS4
CS7
CS10
CS12
CS17
CS20
CS21

Economic Development and Employment
Retail and Other Town Centre Uses
Quality of Design
Sustainable Design and Low Carbon and Renewable Energy
Sustainable Neighbourhoods
Blackpool Town Centre
Leisure Quarter (Blackpool Central site)
Leisure and Business Tourism

Blackpool Local Plan 2011-2016 (saved policies)

10.4.1 The Blackpool Local Plan was adopted in June 2006. A number of policies in the Local Plan
have now been superseded by policies in the Core Strategy but others have been saved until
the Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management Policies has been
produced. The following saved policies are most relevant to this application:

Page 33














10.5

LQ1
LQ2
LQ4
LQ6
LQ11
LQ14
BH3
BH4
BH15
BH17
BH18
AS1
AS7

Lifting the Quality of Design
Site Context
Building Design
Landscape Design and Biodiversity
Shopfronts
Extensions and Alterations
Residential and Visitor Amenity
Public Health and Safety
Change of Use of Premises Outside the Defined Centres
Restaurants, Cafes, Public Houses, Hot Food Takeaways
Amusement Centres
General Development Requirements (Access and Transport)
Aerodrome Safeguarding

Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management Policies
(emerging policies)

10.5.1 The Blackpool Local Plan Part 2 (Part 2) was the subject of independent Examination in
Public in December 2021. The Inspector has now issued his comments. As such, weight can
be attached to the emerging policies in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 48 of
the NPPF. The following emerging policies in Part 2 are most relevant to this application:









10.6

DM14
DM15
DM17
DM20
DM21
DM22
DM36
DM41
DM42

District and local centres
Threshold for impact assessments
Design principles
Extensions and alterations
Landscaping
Shopfronts
Controlling pollution and contamination
Transport requirements for new development
Aerodrome safeguarding

Other Relevant Policy Guidance

10.6.1 Blackpool Council declared a Climate Change Emergency in June 2019 and are committed to
ensuring that approaches to planning decision are in line with a shift to zero carbon by 2030.
10.6.2 Blackpool Council adopted the Blackpool Green and Blue Infrastructure (GBI) Strategy in
2019. The GBI Strategy sets out six objectives for Blackpool in terms of green infrastructure:
 Protect and Enhance GBI i.e. protecting the best and enhancing the rest
 Create and Restore GBI i.e. greening the grey and creating new GBI in areas where it is
most needed
 Connect and Link GBI i.e. making the links, improving connectivity and accessibility of
GBI
 Promote GBI i.e. changing behaviour, promoting the benefits of GBI and encouraging
greater uptake of outdoor activity and volunteering.
10.6.3 National Model Design Code (July 2021) provides guidance to promote successful design and
expands on the ten characteristics of good design set out in the National Design Guide.

Page 34

10.6.4 National Design Guide (January 2021) recognises the importance of good design and
identifies the ten characteristics that make up good design to achieve high quality places and
buildings. The guide articulates that a well-designed place is made up of its character, its
contribution to a sense of community and its ability to address the environmental issues
affecting climate.
10.6.5 The Environment Act 2021 makes provision for all planning permissions to be conditional on
the provision of biodiversity net gain. Whilst there is, as yet, not requirement set out in
statute, the Government’s clear intention is a material planning consideration. The Council
will therefore seek to secure biodiversity net gains where practicable in advance of this
becoming a statutory requirement.
11.0

ASSESSMENT

11.1

Principle

11.1.1 Festival Leisure Park is not allocated for any particular type of development in the
Development Plan, nor is it a designated site forming part of Blackpool’s retail hierarchy. It is
not within the Town Centre nor the Resort Core. However, Festival Leisure Park is a long
standing leisure site which has grown around its cinema anchor since the 1980’s. It is
approximately 300m from the southern Town Centre boundary so could be considered as
being ‘edge of centre’ as described by Annex 2 of the NPPF, although the walking distance
between the town centre boundary and the closest pedestrian entrance to the site is around
340m.
11.1.2 Leisure uses such as those proposed in the Statement of Intent are main town centre uses as
described in the NPPF. Part 7 of the NPPF and Policy CS4 of the Core Strategy seek to direct
such uses to the town centre, and to the designated district and local centres across
Blackpool. CS4 also permits certain town centre uses in the Resort Core where such
development is a tourism attraction. Policy CS4 only permits edge of centre and out of
centre locations for town centre uses where there are no more centrally
located/sequentially preferable and appropriate sites, the proposal would not cause
significant adverse impact on exiting centres, the proposal would not undermine
regeneration proposals and the proposal would be accessible by sustainable transport
modes.
11.1.3 Emerging Policy DM15 requires proposals within 800m of a local centre and with more than
200sqm of floorspace to undertake a Retail Impact Assessment.
11.1.4 The aim of these policies is to protect the Town Centre and other designated centres from
unacceptable impacts from new development in out-of-centre locations. In order to address
these policy requirements, the applicant has undertaken a sequential appraisal and impact
assessment.
11.1.5 The applicant intends to extend the existing mezzanine by 992sqm, creating a total
floorspace of 5,788sqm. Given that the mezzanine would be for leisure use and not retail
use, this is not classed as development but the total proposed floorspace is relevant to the
sequential appraisal and impact assessment.

Page 35

Sequential Test
11.1.6 The sequential test guides main town centre uses towards in-centre locations first, then, if
no in-centre locations are available, to edge-of-centre locations and, if neither town centre
locations nor edge-of-centre locations are available, to out-of-centre locations (with
preference for accessible sites which are well connected to the town centre).
11.1.7 The area of search and the scale and parameters of the sequential test were agreed with
officers during the pre-application stage and flexibility has been applied in line with the PPG.
In order for a sequentially preferable site to be suitable for the proposed leisure use, it must
be an existing building with an open plan layout and flexible floorspace of around 5,788sqm
(+/- 10%), adjacent land for servicing and 132 car parking spaces.
11.1.8 The sequential test covers the Town Centre, Resort Core, all of the district centres and
Central Drive Local Centre. This is considered acceptable as the scale of the use would be
inappropriate in a local centre. Sites assessed include:
11.1.9 The former Debenhams store in Houndshill: This unit is too large at 9,397 sqm and talks are
ongoing between with a prospective new tenant and so this property is unsuitable and
unavailable.
11.1.10 26-32 Market Street (former BHS basement): This unit is too small (2,098sqm) and doesn’t
have the required large open plan floor plate or dedicated parking, although a leisure use in
the Town Centre would not normally have its own dedicated parking, the applicant
considers this unit to be unsuitable. Given the size of the unit the discounting of this unit is
acceptable.
11.1.11 Former Poundland on the Promenade/Market Street: This unit is too small (3,077sqm) and
the floorspace is split across four levels and doesn’t have the large open floor plate required
and is therefore unsuitable.
11.1.12 Showroom at 11-13 General Street: This unit is too small (2,050 sqm) and the floorspace is
split across four levels, has low ceiling heights and doesn’t have the large open floor plate
required and is therefore unsuitable.
11.1.13 Former Syndicate site: This site is a car park and is allocated in the emerging Local Plan Part
2 as a discount food store and multi-storey car park. This site is therefore unsuitable and
unavailable for the proposal.
11.1.14 Former No 1 Working Men’s Club at 5-17 Bloomfield Road: This is currently operating as
“The Armfield Club” and is not available.
11.1.15 429-437 Promenade: The site is too small at 0.12ha and work has commenced on site to
develop a hotel, although work has stalled. This site is unavailable and unsuitable.
11.1.16 Land at 2C Ball Street: The site is too small at 0.06ha, the residential roads would be
unsuitable to carry the volume of traffic visiting the facility and a residential development
has now been delivered. The site is therefore unsuitable and unavailable.
11.1.17 Former casino at 74 Bloomfield Road: the building has recently been brought into use as a
video arcade and gaming centre and is therefore unavailable.

Page 36

11.1.18 Former Woolworths/ Hartes building at 7-11 Bond Street: The building is subject to
development proposals and is therefore not available. The building is in extremely poor
condition and it would not be feasible for the applicant to repair and refurbish this locally
listed building. The building is also too small with just 1,080 sqm and is therefore unsuitable.
11.1.19 Former Post Office at 20-32 Waterloo Road: This building doesn’t appear to be up for sale or
for lease and is too small, with floorspace of no greater than 1,500 sqm. The site is therefore
not available or suitable.
11.1.20 The sequential test concludes that there are no sequentially preferable sites for the leisure
use that are suitable and available within Blackpool Town Centre, the Resort Core or any of
the district centres, or Central Drive Local Centre which could accommodate the proposal.
11.1.21 Officers raised the Blackpool Central site as sequentially preferable site for a range of leisure
uses. A supporting statement indicates that the Odeon’s lease expires in June 2023 and that,
subject to planning approval, the proposed leisure use could be in operation within 6-12
months of that date, if not sooner. The applicant has stated that the Blackpool Central site
only has outline permission (21/0517 refers) and that the developers have up to June 2026
to submit a reserved matters application. Blackpool Central will be built out in phases and
there are also a large number of conditions to discharge. Considering the length of time it
will take the leisure floorspace to be built and become available, the applicants consider that
the leisure floorspace would not be operational for a number of years and is therefore
unavailable for the purposes of the sequential test. Officers agree with this conclusion.
11.1.22 As originally submitted, the proposal included four independent food and drink units and
officers were concerned that these units were not ancillary to the main leisure use and had
not been reasonably disaggregated for the purposes of the sequential test. The main
concern was that the four small units could be accommodated in centre and, given the
number of units and their small scale, could divert custom from the nearby Central Drive
Local Centre. However, the applicant has amended the scheme so that two larger food and
drink units are now proposed (Unit 1 - 377sqm and Unit 2 - 288sqm), which are of a scale
that is unlikely to be accommodated in the Central Drive Local Centre and are now more
appropriately scaled to the leisure use.
11.1.23 Given the scale of vacancies currently experienced in the Town Centre, two larger food and
drink units could be accommodated in the Town Centre. However, it is likely that the future
food and drink operators would be attracted to the leisure park because of the new leisure
use and the same catchment would not be met in the Town Centre. As such, Officers have
accepted that in this instance, these two larger units do not need to be disaggregated from
the main leisure use, for the purposes of the sequential test. As a result and overall, it is
accepted that the sequential test has been satisfied.
Impact Assessment
11.1.24 The purpose of the Impact Assessment is to consider the impact over time of certain out of
centre and edge of centre proposals on town centre vitality/viability and investment. The
test relates to retail and leisure developments (not all main town centre uses) which are not
in accordance with up to date plan policies and which would be located outside existing
town centres.
11.1.25 The applicant asserts that the fall-back position is that the cinema is upgraded to an Odeon
‘Luxe’ which would then compete with and draw trade from the cinema proposal being

Page 37

developed in the Town Centre and therefore, the loss of the cinema at Festival Leisure Park
would have a positive impact on the town centre’s vitality and viability and this committed
public and private sector investment. However, it is assumed that the developers of the new
Town Centre cinema were confident that a use could operate successfully in the Town
Centre alongside other existing cinema operators on the Fylde Coast and so this argument
does not hold significant weight in the planning balance.
11.1.26 The primary concern in terms of impact of the proposed leisure use is the extent to which
the use is likely to undermine planned development at the Blackpool Central site, which
gained outline planning permission in 2021 for a range of leisure uses (21/0517 refers). The
Blackpool Central site has its own policy in the Core Strategy (CS20 – Leisure Quarter) for
major leisure development of national significance which will provide a compelling new
reason to visit Blackpool. The Blackpool Central site is one of Blackpool’s most strategically
important development sites and is critical for economic growth and will be a catalyst for
wider resort and town centre regeneration, and its southern boundary is only approximately
300m away from Festival Park.
11.1.27 A supporting statement confirms that Blackpool Central will be an indoor theme park and
will be of a significantly greater scale (23,000sqm) and target a national audience whereas
the family entertainment centre proposed (5,788sqm of floorspace) would have a more local
market.
11.1.28 In terms of the range of uses at Blackpool Central, a Statement of Intent for that outline
application, confirmed that Blackpool Central will accommodate three indoor theme parks,
with a mix of rides, games, experiences and shows in a themed environment, a flying theatre
and an indoor adventure sports hub featuring a Rollglider (a free falling and hand gliding
sensation); rope courses; adventure trail; quick jump and climbing walls. That Statement also
confirms that the Theme Park will have significant theming and a strong sense of adventure
and storytelling rather than the basic equipment found in family entertainment centres.
11.1.29 The Statement of Intent which supports this application, confirms the range of potential
leisure uses proposed including bowling; trampolining; climbing walls; crazy golf; arcade and
video games; darts; snooker; lazer quest; ‘ninja warrior’ type facility; painting and arts and
crafts; indoor sport such as 5 a side football, tennis or badminton and rollerblading and
roller skating. This Statement specifically precludes adventure sports such as zip wire, high
ropes, hand gliding or bouldering and confirms that the building would be a family
entertainment centre and not an indoor amusement centre or theme park, multi-media
centre, museum or theatre. The applicant is willing to accept a condition that restricts the
range of leisure uses to those specified in the Statement of Intent.
11.1.30 There is some overlap in the uses proposed in terms of climbing wall provision, nonetheless
on balance, subject to a restrictive condition alluded to above, the leisure use would not
have an adverse impact on the planned investment at Blackpool Central.
11.1.31 The town centre does include a leisure offer in the form of the theatres, amusement
arcades, gyms, bowling alley and uses such as Coral Island. The wider Resort Core also
contains the main leisure attractions aimed at tourists. It is possible that the proposed
leisure use could draw trade from these uses and thereby impact on the health of the town
centre and the character and function of the Resort Core. The only comparable use in the
Town Centre is the bowling alley above Revolution on the Promenade and although it is
believed that the bowling alley is still trading, the building itself is currently on the market
and so its future is uncertain. The amusement arcades and family leisure uses on the

Page 38

Promenade are primarily targeting the tourism market and are of a smaller scale than the
proposed leisure use, which is not considered to be a tourist visitor attraction. On this basis,
no significant or unacceptable trade draw from the existing Town Centre and Resort Core
leisure sector is anticipated.
11.1.32 The proposed food and drink units would primarily serve the leisure park itself and given the
assessment in paragraph 11.12 above it is not anticipated that they would compete with or
undermine the Town Centre or nearby local centre.
11.1.33 Given that general retail and food and drink uses all now fall within Use Class E, it is
considered necessary to impose a condition which restricts the use of the proposed food
and drink units to the sale of food and drink only rather than general retailing. Subject to
such a condition, it is not anticipated that the food and drink units would have a material
impact on the vitality and viability of the Town Centre, Resort Core or district and local
centres.
Sustainable transport
11.1.34 The site is close to bus routes on Central Drive and the applicant has submitted amended
plans which include 13 electric vehicle charging points which would serve the new leisure
use and the wider park and has made a commitment to installing more as demand increases.
Cycle parking is proposed along with motor bicycle parking and the detailed design of these
features to ensure that this provision is secure can be agreed by condition. As such, the site
would be accessible by sustainable transport modes.
11.1.35 In light of the above and on balance, it is considered that the proposed leisure use and two
food and drink units are acceptable in principle.
11.2

Design and Visual Impact

11.2.1 Paragraph 126 of the NPPF sets out that the creation of high quality, beautiful and
sustainable buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development
process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates
better places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to
communities. Paragraph 130 confirms that planning decisions should ensure that
developments will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the
short term but over the lifetime of the development and are visually attractive as a result of
good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping. Paragraph 134 states
that development that is not well designed should be refused.
11.2.2 Policy CS7 makes it clear that new development in Blackpool must be well-designed and
enhance the character and appearance of the local area. Similarly saved Policy LQ1 requires
all new development to be of a high standard of design and to make a positive contribution
to the quality of the surrounding environment. Emerging Policy DM17 also requires
development to be of high quality and includes further detailed design requirements.
11.2.3 A number of concerns regarding the design of the front elevation were raised by officers and
amended plans have been submitted in response. The proposal is to re-use the existing
building and so there is no opportunity to do a full scale re-design. Nonetheless, the
introduction of glazed shopfronts will provide an active frontage, some animation and add
interest to the front elevation which is currently solid and impenetrable other that the main
entrance feature.

Page 39

11.2.4 Other than the vertical projections either side of the main entrance, the upper floor is
currently over clad with few architectural details and appears solid, bulky and top heavy.
11.2.5 The amended design proposed for the front elevation, uses the existing brick piers which are
currently visible at ground floor level, over clads them and takes them up full height to
create ordered bays along the front elevation, to help reduce the bulk of the upper floors
and break up the massing. Above the new glazed shopfronts and within each newly created
bay, a triangular cladding system with protruding triangular windows with a contrasting trim
would be installed, adding depth, texture and visual interest to the upper floors and
introducing a vertical and horizontal rhythm which currently does not exist. There is an
existing heavy and solid canopy which runs along the front elevation and it is proposed that
his is replaced by a brise soliel sun canopy within each bay, protruding over the glazed
shopfronts which would serve to further define each bay.
11.2.6 The main entrance is currently defined by two tall vertical brick turrets and it is proposed to
render over this brickwork and pick out the existing windows and doors in a contrasting
colour.
11.2.7 There are design limitations in re-using such a large, purpose built cinema. Nonetheless, the
main front elevation as amended is well designed and applies the design principles set out in
emerging Policy DM17. The north, east and west elevations would simply receive
replacement cladding and would be refreshed. Appropriate materials, including the colour
scheme could be agreed by condition. The details of any external lighting proposed could
similarly be agreed by condition.
11.2.8 There is an existing compound to the rear which houses plant and bins. This would be
refreshed and some plant upgraded but the area would not be expanded and so would not
impact on visual amenity.
11.2.9 The works in the car park to include charging points, cycle stands and motor bike spaces
would have limited visual impact. Overall, the proposals would improve the design of the
front elevation significantly and the other elevations would be refreshed. The design of the
front elevation would have a positive impact on visual amenity when viewed from within
Festival Leisure Park and Rigby Road.
11.3

Impact on residential amenity

11.3.1 Festival Park is an established leisure destination and so it is reasonable to assume that local
residents are accustomed to a higher level of noise and activity than would be expected in a
more typical residential area. Nonetheless, a Noise Assessment has been submitted which
concludes that the design of the current structure will ensure no adverse impact on the
nearby noise sensitive properties from internal operations.
11.3.2 The Noise Assessment recommends that any new plant in the external plant compound is
designed so that it does not exceed 85.5dB(A) at a distance of 1m. The Noise Assessment
does not suggest limiting the hours of operation and given that use would be as a family
entertainment centre and would be conditioned as such, it is not anticipated that the use
would generate any unacceptable levels of noise early in the morning or late at night. A
condition requiring that the development proceeds in accordance with the
recommendations in the Noise Assessment would safeguard the amenities of nearby
residents in terms of noise nuisance.

Page 40

11.3.3 No new windows would be installed on the side or rear elevations and the new windows on
the upper floor on the front elevation would be over 90m away from the nearest property
on Rigby Road. As such, there would be no impacts on residential amenity in terms of
overlooking or loss of privacy.
11.3.4 The bin store is also located in the rear compound and is unlikely to have an adverse impact
on nearby residents in terms of smells or fumes.
11.3.5 As set out above and subject to conditions, it is not anticipated that the proposal would
result in any unacceptable impacts on residential amenity.
11.4

Access, highway safety and parking

11.4.1 Vehicular access to the site is currently taken from Rigby Road between Frankie and Benny's
and the emerging Bingo Hall. However, as part of the planning application for the Bingo Hall
(18/0202 refers) it was agreed that the vehicle access is to be relocated to the west,
between McDonalds and the fenced off area where the additional drive thru is to be located.
This arrangement is shown on the proposed site layout plan which accompanies this
planning application and the agent has confirmed that work is due to start on relocating the
access on the 18 July 2022. It is anticipated that these works would take around five weeks
to complete.
11.4.2 As a result of comments from the Head of Highways and Traffic Management, the scheme
has been amended to include an additional motorcycle parking area (four in total to serve
the park) and cycle storage. A condition is necessary to agree these details.
11.4.3 The car park layout has also been amended to include 13 EV charging points and a condition
requiring that these are implemented in advance of the development being brought into use
is considered necessary.
11.4.4 Appendix D2 in the Blackpool Local Plan, Part 2: Site Allocations and Development
Management Policies document requires the submission of a Travel Plan for leisure uses
with more than 1,000 sqm of floorspace and this should be secured by condition.
11.4.5 The site is accessible by public transport and subject to the conditions suggested above, the
site would be accessible by sustainable modes of transport as required by Saved Policy AS1
and emerging Policy DM41.
11.4.6 In terms of car parking, there are currently 497 car parking spaces. The proposed site layout
plan reduces the number of spaces to a total of 486, comprising 431 standard bays, 13 EV
charging bays and 42 accessible spaces. The reduction in numbers is as a result of the
inclusion of the EV charging bays which are wider than a standard space. Given that this
proposal is a change of use from type of leisure use to another, and that the car parking
layout generally has been found to be acceptable as part of the Bingo Hall application, it is
not considered that there would be a material impact on car parking demand or trip
generation.
11.4.7 A condition requiring the submission and agreement of the servicing arrangements is
considered necessary, to ensure that the proposed leisure use and the two food and drink
units can be serviced safely and in the interest of residential amenity.

Page 41

11.4.8 In light of the above and subject to the imposition of appropriate conditions, no
unacceptable impacts relating to the access, highway safety or parking are anticipated.
11.5

Other Issues

11.5.1 The vast majority of the site falls within flood zone 1, although the road network around the
site other than Seasiders Way, is either flood zone 2 or 3. A small section of flood zone 2
penetrates the site to the rear and west of Bannatynes. As such, the use proposed would fall
within flood zone 1 meaning that there is no requirement for the developer to demonstrate
compliance with the sequential or exceptions tests. In any case, the proposal would change
one leisure use with another and would not constitute a more vulnerable use classification
for the purposes of flood risk. Drainage would not be affected. As such, no flood risk issues
are identified.
11.5.2 The application form indicates that the existing cinema has 40 employees (total full time
equivalent) and the proposed leisure use would result in more than double that number of
full time equivalent jobs. Without an end user and further details as to the uses that will
come forward and the floorspace given over to each use, it is difficult to confirm accurately
the number of jobs that the proposed use would generate. However, with two independent
food and drink uses and a range of different activities on the site, it is fair to assume that
there would be more jobs as a result of the proposal than the existing number. Given the
recognised problems relating to deprivation and employment within Blackpool, this
consideration weighs in favour of the scheme.
11.5.3 The proposal involves the re-use of the cinema building and would not involve the loss of
landscaping or habitat features. As such, no unacceptable impacts on biodiversity are
anticipated.
11.5.4 The proposal would not break ground and so there would be no unacceptable
environmental impacts, on air, water or land quality and there are no heritage assets on or
immediately around the site.
11.5.5 The applicant has stated that the use proposed would encourage healthy and active
lifestyles. Festival Park is already well served by food and drink uses and the proposal
includes two additional food and drink units. In order to assist the Council in achieving its
health priorities and its declaration on healthy weight, an informative should be included on
the decision notice, advising the applicant how the operators of these additional food and
drink can sign up to the Healthier Choices Award.
11.5.6 The application has been considered in the context of the Council’s general duty in all its
functions to have regard to community safety issues as required by section 17 of the Crime
and Disorder Act 1998 (as amended).
11.5.7 Under Article 8 and Article 1 of the first protocol to the Convention on Human Rights, a
person is entitled to the right to respect for private and family life, and the peaceful
enjoyment of his/her property. However, these rights are qualified in that they must be set
against the general interest and the protection of the rights and freedoms of others. This
application does not raise any specific human rights issues.
11.5.8 Through the assessment of this application, Blackpool Council as a public authority has had
due regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty (“PSED”) under s.149 of the Equality Act and
the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of opportunity between

Page 42

people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not, and to foster
or encourage good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those
who do not. The application is not considered to raise any inequality issues.
12.0

Sustainability and planning balance appraisal

12.1

Sustainability comprises economic, environmental and social components.

12.2

Economically the scheme would represent inward investment into the town and job
creation, although some employment would be lost through the loss of the cinema. The
proposal would satisfy the sequential test and no significant adverse impacts on existing
centres or planned development are anticipated. On this basis the scheme is considered to
be economically sustainable.

12.3

Environmentally no ecological issues are anticipated and the development would not be
expected to unacceptably impact upon air, land, water quality or drainage. Following the
amendments made to the design of the front elevation, the design of the proposal is
considered to be acceptable. The proposal is considered to be environmentally sustainable.

12.4

Socially it is considered that adequate safeguards could be put in place to ensure that the
development would not have an unacceptable impact on residential amenity. Although
some parking spaces would be lost, the resulting provision would be adequate to serve the
uses on site and the provision of Electric Vehicle charging points and cycle stands would
mean that the development could be accessed by sustainable modes of travel. On this basis,
no unacceptable impacts on highway safety are anticipated. The development would not be
at undue risk from flood risk and would not exacerbate flood risk off site. As set out above,
the development would satisfy the sequential test and no unacceptable impact on the
health of existing centres is anticipated. As such, the role and function of the centres in the
borough's established retail hierarchy as community hubs would be safeguarded. As such,
the scheme is considered to be socially sustainable.

13.0

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

13.1

The uses proposed would generate business rates. As such, there is potential for the Council
to benefit indirectly through an increased business rates receipt. However, this
consideration has no weight in the planning balance.

14.0

CONCLUSION

14.1

In terms of planning balance, the development proposed is considered to constitute
sustainable development in terms of the environmental and social components. No other
material planning considerations have been identified that would outweigh this view.

15.0

RECOMMENDATION

15.1

Members are respectfully recommended to resolve to grant planning permission subject to
the conditions listed below, and to delegate authority to the Head of Development
Management to issue the decision notice, once the statutory 21 day consultation period
expires.

1

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from
the date of this permission.

Page 43

Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990 (as amended).
2

The development shall be carried out, except where modified by the conditions attached to
this permission, in accordance with the planning application received by the Local Planning
Authority including the following plans and information:
Location plan recorded as received by the Council on 23/05/2022
Proposed site layout plan ref. 7672.4-BOW-A0-00-DR-A-1003 Revision C
Proposed elevations plan ref. 7672.4-BOWZ-A3-XX-DR-A-3001 Revision B
Proposed ground floor plan ref. 7672.4-BOW-A3-00-DR-A-2001Revision B
Proposed first floor plan ref. 7672.4-BOW-A3-01-DR-A-2002 Revision B
Cross section plan ref. 7672.4-BOW-A3-ZZ-DR-A-4001 Revision A
The development shall thereafter be retained and maintained in accordance with these
approved details.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and so the Local Planning Authority can be satisfied as to
the details of the permission.

3

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015 (as amended), the leisure use (ie non-food and drink) hereby
approved shall accord with the Statement of Intent recorded as received by the Council on
18 May 2022, unless otherwise first submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: In order to ensure that the leisure uses on site do not impact on existing, committed
and planned public and private investment in the Leisure Quarter (Core Strategy Policy CS20)
and to safeguard the vitality and viability of the Town Centre in accordance with Policy CS4
of the Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 2012-2027 and Saved Policy BH15 of the
Blackpool Local Plan 2001-2016.

4

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015 (as amended) the leisure floorspace hereby approved shall be
used for indoor sport, recreation or fitness under Use Class E(d) only and for no other
purpose unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To safeguard the vitality and viability of the Town Centre in accordance with Policy
CS4 of the Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 2012-2027 and Saved Policy BH15 of the
Blackpool Local Plan 2001-2016.

5

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015 (as amended) the two food and drink units hereby approved shall
be used to serve food and drink only (Use Class Eb) and for no other purpose unless
otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To safeguard the vitality and viability of the Town Centre in accordance with Policy
CS4 of the Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 2012-2027 and Saved Policy BH15 of the
Blackpool Local Plan 2001-2016.

6

The external materials to be used on the development hereby approved shall be submitted
to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of any
external alterations and the development shall thereafter proceed in full accordance with
these approved details.

Page 44

Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the site and streetscene in accordance with
Policy CS7 of the Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 2012-2027, Saved Policies LQ1
and LQ14 of the Blackpool Local Plan 2001-2016 and emerging Policy DM17 of the Blackpool
Local Plan, Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management Policies document.
7

Prior to the development hereby approved being first brought into use, the EV
charging/parking provision shown on the approved plan shall be provided and shall
thereafter be retained as such.
Reason: In order to ensure that adequate EV charging provision is available to meet the
needs of the development, to facilitate the transition to more sustainable, low carbon modes
of transport and in the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy CS10 of the
Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 2012-2027, Saved Policy AS1 of the Blackpool Local
Plan 2001-2016 and emerging Policy DM41 of the Blackpool Local Plan, Part 2: Site
Allocations and Development Management Policies document.

8

Before the development hereby approved is first brought into use:
(a) details of cycle storage provision to include the type of cycle stand and the form and
materials of a waterproof cover and enclosure shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by
the Local Planning Authority; and
(b) the cycle storage agreed pursuant to part (a) of this condition shall be implemented in full
and in full accordance with the approved details.
(c) details of the motorcycle parking provision in terms of the number of spaces and
standards shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority: and
(d) the motorcycle parking provision agreed pursuant to part (c) of this condition shall be
implemented in full and in full accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In order to encourage travel to and from the site by a sustainable transport mode
and to ensure there is sufficient and secure provision for the parking of motorcycles in
accordance with Saved Policy AS1 of the Blackpool Local Plan 2001-2016 and emerging Policy
DM41 of the Blackpool Local Plan, Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management
Policies document.

9

The development hereby approved shall proceed in full accordance with the
recommendations in the submitted Noise Assessment dated Novermber 2021.
Reason: In order to safeguard the living conditions of nearby neighbours in accordance with
the provisions of Policy CS7 of the Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 2012-2027,
Saved Policy BH3 of the Blackpool Local Plan 2001-2016 and emerging Policy DM36 of the
Blackpool Local Plan, Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management Policies
document.
10

Prior to the installation of any external lighting, details of the lighting shall be submitted to
and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the development shall thereafter
proceed in full accordance with these approved details. For the purpose of this condition, the
details shall include the form, design, materials and technical specification of the lighting and
a lux plan to show the resulting area of light-spill.

Page 45

Reason: In the interest of the appearance of the site and locality and to safeguard the
amenities of nearby residents in accordance with Policy CS7 of the Blackpool Local Plan Part
1: Core Strategy 2012-2027, Saved Policies LQ1 and BH3 of the Blackpool Local Plan 20012016 and emerging Policy DM36 Blackpool Local Plan, Part 2: Site Allocations and
Development Management Policies document.
11

(a) The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until a travel plan has
been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The travel Plan shall include:
 appointment of a travel co-ordinator
 proposals for surveying
 production of travel audits
 establishment of a working group
 an action plan
 timescales for implementation
 targets for implementation
(b) The development hereby approved shall then proceed and be operated in full accordance
with the approved Travel Plan.
Reason: In order to encourage travel to and from the site by sustainable transport modes in
accordance with Policy AS1 of the Blackpool Local Plan 2001-2016.

12

Prior to the development hereby approved being first brought into use, details of how the
uses
hereby approved would be serviced shall be submitted and agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The servicing of the site shall then only take place in accordance with the
approved details.
Reason: In order to ensure that the site can be accessed and serviced safely and in the
interests of residential amenity in accordance with the provisions of Policy CS7 of the
Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 2012-2027 and saved Policies AS1 and BH3 of the
Blackpool Local Plan 2001-2016.

ADVICE NOTES TO DEVELOPERS
1.

In order to assist the Council in meeting its health priorities and its declaration on healthy
weight, the applicant and any future operators of any element of the development may
wish to consider signing up to the Councils Healthier Choices Award.
https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Business/Business-support-and-advice/Healthier-ChoicesAward.aspx

Page 46

Appendix 8a
22/0019 – Odeon, Festival Leisure Park

Location Plan

Proposed Site Plan

Page 47

Proposed Floor Plan

Proposed Elevations

Page 48

Page 49

Page 50

Site Photos

Page 51

Page 52

Agenda Item 9
Blackpool Council
Development Management
Officer Report to Committee

Application ref:
Ward:
Application type:
Location:
Proposal:
Recommendation:
Case officer:
Case officer contact:
Meeting date:

22/0195
Clifton
Full Planning Permission
Unit 1, Clifton Retail Park, Clifton Road, Blackpool, FY4 4US
Erection of 2 Storey Side Extension and Alterations to Front Elevation of
Existing Building.
Approve
Caron Taylor
01253 342597
26/07/22

1.0

BLACKPOOL COUNCIL PLAN 2019-2024

1.1

The Council Plan sets out two priorities. The first is ‘the economy: maximising growth and
opportunity across Blackpool’, and the second is ‘communities: creating stronger
communities and increasing resilience’.

1.2

It is considered that the application would accord with the first priority as it would provide
new economic development in the borough without detriment to the existing retail
hierarchy of centres.

2.0

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

2.1

The application proposes an extension and external alterations to an existing retail unit at
Clifton Retail Park (currently trading as Next). A sequential assessment has been submitted
and it is agreed that there are no sequentially preferable sites on which it could be located.
It is also not considered that the application proposal would have any material impact on
existing investment being successfully realised or that any centre would be the subject of an
unacceptable impact. All other aspects of the development are considered acceptable
subject to conditions.

3.0

INTRODUCTION

3.1

This application is before Members because of the significance of the scheme.

4.0

SITE DESCRIPTION

4.1

The application site is located on Clifton Retail Park. It is the end unit of three attached
retails units (and the undeveloped land adjacent to it) currently trading as Next, which sits
alongside Matalan and Clarks Outlet stores. These are sited adjacent to a Tesco Extra store.
All four stores share one car park and access point off a roundabout on Clifton Road. The site
is not subject to any other specific designations or constraints, although it is in the
Aerodrome Safeguarding Area.

Page 53

5.0

DETAILS OF PROPOSAL

5.1

The application provides for the erection of a two-storey side extension and alterations to
the front elevation of the existing building, to provide an additional 1,466 sq.m (gross) floor
space within Use Class E(a) at the existing Next unit, Unit 1, Clifton Retail Park. The extension
will allow Next to offer a much larger range of bulky ‘Next Home’ goods. No changes to
opening hours, or to the existing conditions controlling the use of the floorspace within the
unit are proposed.

5.1.2

The application has been supported by:
 Design and Access Statement
 Planning Statement (including sequential assessment)
 External Materials Details
 Topographical Survey
 Geo-environmental and Geotechnical Preliminary Risk Assessment
 Landscaping Details
 Drainage Strategy
 3D Artist’s Impression
 BREEAM Pre-Assessment Report

6.0

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

6.1

Outline planning permission reference 93/0651 for the existing building and attached retail
stores was granted in November 1993 for the erection of a retail development on land
adjacent to the Tesco foodstore.

6.1.2

Condition 6 of this permission prohibits the sale of food or drinks from the approved
floorspace, and Condition 7 prohibits a retail unit comprising a gross floorspace of less than
5,000 sq.ft (equivalent to approximately 465 sq.m). Beyond these two conditions, the 1993
permission does not restrict the amount of net floorspace within which retailers can trade.
Reserved matters for the units was approved under reference 94/0067.

6.1.3

Following this, a certificate of lawful development for the erection of a mezzanine floor
within Units 1 and 2 (Next and Matalan) was approved in May 2006 and this was installed
(ref: 06/0244).

6.1.4

In 2010 (ref: 09/1573) planning permission was refused for a standalone retail unit attached
to the side of the existing Next store, on a similar site to the current application. The
applicant applied for an unrestricted retail permission which would allow the sale of all nonfood goods. This was refused on two grounds: 1) the unit would have an adverse impact
upon the vitality and viability of the Town Centre and therefore compromise regeneration
strategies; 2) it would not constitute a high quality of sympathetic extension to the existing
terrace of retail units and would look incongruous within the streetscene.

7.0

MAIN PLANNING ISSUES

7.1

The main planning issues are considered to be:





the principle of development
design, layout and visual impact
impact on residential amenity
highway impact etc.

Page 54

8.0

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

8.1

Environment Agency - Have no objection to the application but make comments regarding
land contamination. They state the development site appears to have been the subject of
past industrial activity (former Marton Gasworks and landfill), which poses a high risk of
pollution to controlled waters. They recommend reference is made to their ‘Guiding
Principles for Land Contamination’ which outlines the approach which should be adopted
when managing the site’s risks to the water environment. They also advise consultation with
the Council’s Environmental Protection Department for advice on generic aspects of land
contamination management. Where planning controls are considered necessary, they
recommend that the environmental protection of controlled waters is considered alongside
any human health protection requirements. This approach is supported by paragraph 174 of
the National Planning Policy Framework.

8.2

Cadent Gas - Have no objection to the application having reviewed the proposal. They ask
for an informative note to be added to any decision notice. The plans Cadent have provided
only show low and medium pressure mains in the vicinity of the site. As they are not high
pressure there is no statutory requirement to input the details into the Health and Safety
Executive’s Planning Advice Web App.

8.3

Fylde Borough Council - No response received.

8.4

Local Highway Authority - Have no objection to the application. They have no issues with
the Transport Statement. Comparing the Gross Floor Area of the proposal and the parking
requirements to those of the total site they consider the effect of the additional floorspace
would not be severe. In addition there is no obvious further space for expansion elsewhere
within the site without reducing parking spaces - which they would oppose.

8.5

Lead Local Flood Authority - State the hydrobrake does seem to be rather small (0.9L/s)
which may pose a blockage risk, however the maintenance/inspection plan is acceptable. If
they feel that this is a practical size then this is acceptable. The flood risk assessment is
acceptable and they have allowed for a 1 in 100 with climate change.

8.6

Environmental Protection Manager (Contaminated Land) - State that the Environment
Agency are correct, the site is located within the site of the former gas works. As a result a
land contamination study will need to be carried out.

8.7

Lancashire Fire and Rescue Service - Have issued their standard advice in relation to Building
Regulations.

9.0

REPRESENTATIONS

9.1

Press notice published: 04/04/22

9.2

Site notice published: 07/04/22

9.3

Neighbours notified: 24/03/22

9.4

No representations have been received to the application.

Page 55

10.0

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

10.1

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

10.1.1 The NPPF was adopted in July 2021. It sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable
development. The following sections are most relevant to this application:




10.2

Section 6 – Building a strong, competitive economy
Section 7 - Ensuring the vitality of town centres
Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places
Section 14 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

10.2.1 The NPPG expands upon and offers clarity on the points of policy set out in the NPPF.
10.3

Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 2012-2027

10.3.1 The Core Strategy was adopted in January 2016. The following policies are most relevant to
this application:



10.4

CS1
CS4
CS7

Strategic Location of Development
Retail and Other Town Centre Uses
Quality of Design

Blackpool Local Plan 2011-2016 (saved policies)

10.4.1 The Blackpool Local Plan was adopted in June 2006. A number of policies in the Local Plan
have now been superseded by policies in the Core Strategy but others have been saved until
the Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management Policies has been
produced. The following saved policies are most relevant to this application:


10.5

LQ4
AS7

Building Design
Aerodrome Safeguarding

Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management Policies
(emerging policies)

10.5.1 The Blackpool Local Plan Part 2 (Part 2) was subject to independent Examination in Public
between 6th-10th December 2021 and the Inspector has issued their comments. As such,
weight can be afforded to the emerging policies in accordance with the provisions of
paragraph 48 of the NPPF. The following draft policies are considered to be most relevant to
this application:




DM15 Threshold for impact assessments
DM17 Design principles
DM42 Aerodrome safeguarding

Page 56

11.0

ASSESSMENT

11.1

Principle of Development – policy background

11.1.1 The proposal is for an extension to the existing Next retail unit to increase the Next
homeware range. Retail is a main town centre use as defined in Annex 2 of the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). The application site is in an out of centre location.
11.1.2 Section 7 of the July 2021 NPPF relates to ensuring the vitality of town centres. Main town
centre uses should be located in town centres, then in edge of centre locations; and only if
suitable sites are not available (or expected to become available within a reasonable period)
should out of centre sites be considered. Paragraph 87 states that a sequential test should
apply to all planning applications for main town centre uses which are neither in an existing
centre nor in accordance with an up-to-date plan.
11.1.3 Paragraph 88 states that when considering out of centre proposals, preference should be
given to accessible sites which are well connected to the town centre. Applicants and local
planning authorities should demonstrate flexibility on issues such as format and scale, so
that opportunities to utilise suitable town centre or edge of centre sites are fully explored.
11.1.4 As the application is a Town Centre use on an out of centre site a Sequential Assessment has
been submitted to explore if there are sequentially preferable sites on which the
development could be located.
11.1.5 Paragraph 91 of the NPPF makes it clear that applications which fail the sequential test or
are likely to have significant adverse impact on one or more of the considerations in
paragraph 90, it should be refused. This is however subject to the policies of the
development plan and all other material considerations being considered in the planning
balance when coming to a decision.
11.1.6 Local Policy CS4 of the Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 2012-2027 relates to retail
and other town centre uses, and sets out the tests to be applied for such development. The
policy sets out a hierarchy for development, with Blackpool town centre being the focus for
new major retail development.
11.1.7 In addition to the above, Policy CS1 sets out principles for the strategic location of
development in Blackpool, and identifies Blackpool town centre as one of three inner areas
for regeneration where ‘…future growth, development and investment will be focused…’.
Whilst the policy indicates that development proposals will be assessed taking into account
this principle, there is no further direct retail test linked to this policy.
11.1.8 Paragraph 219 of Annex 1 of the revised NPPF indicates that due weight should be given to
relevant policies in existing plans according to their consistency with the NPPF (the more
similar the policies, the greater the weight that may be given). The adopted development
plan provides limited detail as to how the sequential or impact tests should be implemented
in practice. Whilst the emerging Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and
Development Management Policies elaborates on these tests, given that this is not yet
adopted (but carries significant weight), it is considered appropriate to first consider the
proposal in accordance with the wording of the tests as set out in the NPPF.

Page 57

11.1.9 Although the existing adopted Local Plan policies do not set a local threshold for when
development will be subject to an impact test, emerging Local Plan Part 2 Policy DM15 does:
(1) ‘An Impact Assessment is required for retail and leisure proposals including the
formation of mezzanine floors; changes of use and variations of condition to remove
or amend restrictions which are not located in a defined centre where:
(a) the proposal provides a floorspace greater than 500 sq.m gross; or
(b) the proposal is located within 800 metres of the boundary of a District Centre and
is greater than 300 sq.m gross; or
(c) the proposal is located within 800 metres of the boundary of a Local Centre and is
greater than 200 sq.m gross.
(2) The scope and content of any Impact assessment shall be agreed with the Local
Planning
Authority.’
11.1.10 Significant weight can be given to this policy considering the advice in paragraph 48 of the
NPPF, its advanced stage of preparation, that no objections have been received to the policy
at publication stage and its consistency with the NPPF.
11.1.11 The purpose of an impact assessment is to consider the impacts of the proposal on town
centre vitality and viability and investment. It is for the applicant to demonstrate that the
proposal will not have a significant adverse impact on planned and committed town centre
investment, or on the vitality and viability of the defined centres.
11.1.12 Paragraphs 90 and 91 of the NPPF indicate that application proposals for retail and leisure
development should be refused planning permission where a significant adverse impact is
likely to arise from development.
11.1.13 The two key impact tests identified by paragraph 90 of the NPPF relate to:
• the impact of the proposal on existing, committed and planned public and private sector
investment in a centre or centres in the catchment area of the proposal; and
• the impact of the proposal on town centre vitality and viability, including local consumer
choice and trade in the town centre and wider retail catchment (as applicable to the scale
and nature of the scheme).
11.1.14 The application has been reviewed by the Council’s retained retail consultant. The
compliance of the proposal with the sequential test and each of the two strands of the
impact test is set out below.
11.2

The Sequential Test

11.2.1 Paragraph 011 of the Town Centres PPG provides a ‘checklist’ for the application of the
sequential test in decision taking. It indicates the following considerations:
• With due regard to the requirement to demonstrate flexibility, has the suitability of more
central sites to accommodate the proposal been considered? Where the proposal would
be located in an edge of centre or out of centre location, preference should be given to
accessible sites that are well connected to the town centre.

Page 58

• Is there scope for flexibility in the format and/or scale of the proposal? It is not necessary
to demonstrate that a potential town centre or edge of centre site can accommodate
precisely the scale and form of development being proposed, but rather to consider what
contribution more central sites are able to make individually to accommodate the
proposal.
• If there are no suitable sequentially preferable locations, the sequential test is passed.
11.2.2 The Council’s retail consultants have conducted a review of in and edge of centre sites, and
the potential offered by well-connected out of centre sites, as part of the NPPF test,
considering how the Courts and the Secretary of State have considered the matter of
flexibility in applying the tests of suitability and flexibility, before then considering the
appropriateness of the site search parameters identified by the applicant.
11.2.3 In terms of the site search and identifying parameters, the applicant has considered a range
of potentially sequentially preferable alternative sites within or on the edge of Blackpool
Town Centre and set out their approach to the search which the Council accept. All these
sites have been reviewed (as well as a number of other sites the Council are also aware of
currently being marketed, including the former Debenhams site) and it is agreed that none
of these sites are both available and suitable to accommodate the application proposal. The
Council are unaware of any other site which is ‘in centre’, ‘edge of centre’, or better
connected to a centre, that could accommodate the proposal in practice.
11.2.4 It is therefore considered that the application proposal conforms to the requirements of the
sequential test as articulated by paragraphs 87 and 88 of the NPPF.
11.3

The Impact Test

11.3.1 The impact test is in two parts, each of which are assessed below.
11.3.2 The applicant addresses potential impact of the proposal on existing, committed and
planned public and private sector investment in centres in the catchment area of the
proposal in its Planning Statement. They consider the impact of the proposals on large,
mixed use developments being undertaken in the town centre as part of the efforts to
regenerate Blackpool. These include the Houndshill Phase 2 extension, the Central Station
Regeneration Area, the Abingdon Street Market and remaining phases of the Talbot
Gateway regeneration. They also provide a summary in respect of the redevelopment of the
Blackpool Central area, which benefits from planning permission for a leisure-led mixed use
redevelopment.
11.3.3 The Council are satisfied that the above proposals are qualitatively different from the
application proposal, and that there will be no significant impacts which would either affect
development being implemented or their successful operations once brought forward.
11.3.4 The applicant has also provided a letter from Next Holdings Limited. This confirms that the
retailer has no plans to alter Next’s representation in the Houndshill Centre in Blackpool
town centre, and that the future of this store is in no way related to the application scheme
at Clifton Retail Park. It is important to note that the Council has no powers to require Next
to continue trading in the town centre and any permission granted would not be personal to
Next Holdings Limited. Nevertheless, it is acknowledged that, where Next have an out-ofcentre presence, they typically still retain a smaller in-centre store. Officers are therefore
satisfied that the granting of this permission would not result in any alteration to the

Page 59

applicant’s representation in the town centre, at least in the short term, and that any future
change to this would occur independently from the granting of this application.
11.3.5 It is therefore considered that the proposal conforms to the requirements of the first strand
of the impact test set out at NPPF paragraph 90.
11.3.6 With regard to the impact of the proposal on town centre vitality and viability, including
local consumer choice and trade in the town centre and wider area, the applicant has set out
its approach to trade diversion impact in their Planning Statement. The Council agrees that
the highest impact on trade will likely be felt at existing out of centre destinations which
have no policy protection. In terms of in-centre destinations, Next estimates the impact on
Blackpool town centre to be -0.4%. However, the Council consider the estimated turnover of
the proposed floorspace to be higher than set out by Next. Using higher turnover figures this
impact would increase slightly to -0.5%. However, in both cases, it is agreed that the level of
diversion is unlikely to have a significant adverse impact on Blackpool town centre.
11.3.7 In considering the potential implications of the trade diversion of the proposal from the
town centre, the Council have also given consideration to the current health of Blackpool
town centre. Although Next does not provide a detailed health check of Blackpool town
centre within their submission, there is detailed commentary provided with regard to the
significant amount of investment which is committed or underway within the town centre.
The current and future developments within the town centre are a positive indicator in
respect of the future health of Blackpool, providing for a diverse offer within a popular town
centre destination. There are some concerns within the town centre in respect of vacancy
rates (units and floorspace) and the requirement to ensure the future long-term occupancy
of some of the stock of floorspace. However, given the nature of the proposal which seeks to
increase the bulky goods offer within an existing operator at the retail park, and
confirmation from the retailer that there is no intention to alter its existing offer within the
town centre, the Council are satisfied that the level of diversion is unlikely to result in an
impact which would be of a significant magnitude. This is also on the basis that a high
proportion of the proposal’s trade will be diverted from existing out of centre operators
which have no policy protection.
11.3.8 Overall, it is not considered that the application proposal would have any material impact on
existing investment being successfully realised or that any centre would be the subject of an
unacceptable impact. It is therefore considered that the proposal accords with the
requirements of both strands of the NPPF impact test and Local Plan insofar as it relates to
impact.
11.4

Acceptability of retail development in this location - summary

11.4.1 Paragraph 91 of the NPPF indicates that planning applications for retail uses that are not in
an existing centre and not in accordance with an up to date development plan should be
refused planning permission where they fail to satisfy the requirements of the sequential
approach or are likely to result in a significant adverse impact.
11.4.2 In respect of the sequential approach to development it is agreed that there are no
sequentially preferable sites that are both available and suitable to accommodate the
principal parts of the application proposal, allowing for flexibility. The proposal therefore
accords with the requirements of paragraphs 87 and 88 of the NPPF.

Page 60

11.4.3 With regard to the first part of the NPPF impact test, it is not considered that the grant of
planning permission for the proposed development would lead to a significant adverse
impact in respect of existing, committed and planned public and private sector investment.
11.4.4 In terms of the second part of the test (relating to the vitality and viability of town centres),
a large proportion of the impact arising from the proposal would occur at existing out of
centre destinations, principally those within the locality of the application site in the wider
retail parks. In terms of the potential impact of the proposal on defined centres within the
catchment, it is considered that the impact on the existing offer would not be significant.
The proposal therefore accords with the NPPF impact test.
11.4.5 The proposal is therefore considered acceptable in relation to town centre planning policies,
subject to appropriate planning conditions controlling the range of goods sold to bulky
goods.
11.5

Design, Layout and Visual Impact

11.5.1 In terms of design, the existing building (together with Matalan and Clarks) is of its time,
having been built in the mid-1990s. It has limited external glazing and large expanses of red
brick broken up with decorative buff band courses. The building as a whole has a fully
hipped roof of profiled metal cladding with small gables marking the store entrances and
providing visual interest on the side elevations.
11.5.2 The proposed extension would be to the side of the existing Next store between it and
Sandhams Way that leads to the rear service yard of the units. It would also incorporate a
mezzanine as the existing store does. The area is currently laid to grass with a small amount
of low shrub planting. The extension would not cover the whole area, a strip of
approximately 5m would remain between the extension and the road.
11.5.3 The site is bound by the M55 motorway slip road to the south separated by a band of trees
and Sandhams Way to the east, which is only used for servicing of the existing three retail
units and Glasdon. The main visible façade is and would be the front elevation.
11.5.4 The proposed extension would introduce a much fresher, more modern façade to the
extension and exiting Next store with large expanses of glazing framed by red brick allowing
views into and out of the store. The side elevation although still largely blank, would be less
visible than it is currently as it will be brought closer to the Glasdon building opposite. In
addition some glazing will wrap around the north east corner which is looked upon
favourably giving the east elevation a more active frontage.
11.5.6 Part of the existing roof would be demolished including the two feature gables at the front
and on the side elevation, but the hipped roof on the end of the building would remain. A
low dual pitched roof would sit alongside the existing roof over the new extension. The new
roof would be a profiled metal in light grey colour to match the exiting. Given the shallow
pitch of the roofs, they are unlikely to be visible other than at a distance. The existing roof of
the block is hipped but there is an uplift at either end because of a gable feature. As such,
the roof proposed would balance the gable at the other end of the block to some extent. On
balance, the roof form is considered to be acceptable.
11.5.7 Although ideally the whole building façade to include the adjacent units would be updated
at the same time, it is accepted that this will not be possible due to the existing different
tenants. It will however represent an improvement to the current unit that is now looking

Page 61

dated and create more visual interest from the outside. The site is largely viewed in the
context of the other retail units, Tesco Extra and Glasdon. Although there are views of it
from Clifton Road, this is across the car park serving the units a distance of approximately
160m. It is not therefore considered that the modern design for the end unit will look out of
place in the streetscene.
11.6

Impact on residential amenity

11.6.1 The existing Next store and the location of the extension is entirely contained within Clifton
Retail Park and adjacent to the commercial building of Glasdon UK Ltd with the slip road of
the M55 to the rear (south). It is therefore considered that the proposal will not have an
unacceptable impact on any residential properties.
11.7

Access, highway safety and parking

11.7.1 Access to the unit would remain as exists via a roundabout on Clifton Road. The extension
would result in an additional 1466m² of floor space over two floors.
11.7.2 A Transport Statement has been submitted with the application. It concludes that on
weekdays the development would be likely to generate approximately 6 and 10 two-way
vehicle trips on the network AM (8-9am) and PM (5-6) pm peak hours, respectively. There
would be approximately 25 two-way vehicle trips in the inter-peak hour (11am-12noon),
which is equivalent to around 1 vehicle every 2 to 3 minutes.
11.7.3 For the weekend vehicle trip generation there would be approximately 34 two-way vehicle
trips during the development peak hour. This equates to approximately 1 vehicle every 2
minutes.
11.7.4 In terms of parking, Clifton Retail Park on which Next is located shares a large car park with
the other units on the site including Tesco. No additional customer parking is proposed.
11.7.5 It is agreed that the given the capacity of the existing car park of over 1000 spaces, and a
petrol filling station at the entrance the impact of the additional vehicles will not have an
unacceptable impact on the road network or existing parking provision at the site. The
Council’s Head of Highways and Traffic Management Services has raised no objection.
11.7.6 Servicing of the extended unit will remain as currently exists to the rear, accessed off
Sandhams Way.
11.8

Drainage and flood risk

11.8.1 A Drainage Strategy has been submitted with the application.
11.8.2 The National Planning Practice Guidance states the aim should be to discharge surface run
off as high up the following hierarchy of drainage options as reasonably practicable:
1. into the ground (infiltration);
2. to a surface water body;
3. to a surface water sewer, highway drain, or another drainage system;
4. to a combined sewer.
11.8.3 The Drainage Strategy rules out infiltration but states ‘no intrusive ground investigations
have been undertaken to determine the infiltration capability of the site. The BGS geological

Page 62

mapping and borehole records identify the presence of clays which would not be able to
support infiltration SuDS’.
11.8.4 The BGS geological data is generally accurate but it does not go down to the small scale, only
an approximation based on known conditions nearby. Therefore it may be possible that the
site is suitable. Therefore a planning condition is proposed requiring a drainage scheme to
be submitted and approved that is in accordance with the hierarchy including evidence of an
assessment of the site conditions to include site investigation and test result to confirm
infiltration rates. Subject to this being agreed it is considered a suitable drainage scheme can
be achieved on the site.
11.9

Biodiversity impact

11.9.1 The extension would be built on what is currently an area of maintained cut grass with some
low shrub hedging at its northern end. The Environment Act 2021 makes provision for all
planning permissions to be conditional on the provision of biodiversity net gain. Whilst there
is, as yet, no requirement set out in statute, the Government’s clear intention is a material
planning consideration and is also set out in emerging Local Plan Part 2 Policy DM35. The
Council will therefore seek to secure biodiversity net gains where practicable in advance of
this becoming a statutory requirement.
11.9.2 The proposals include the planting of indigenous wildflowers on the retained green space to
improve biodiversity over the current area of cut grass and this can be controlled via a
planning condition. This is considered acceptable.
11.10 Environmental impact
11.10.1 Policy CS10 of the Core Strategy states all non-residential developments over 1,000 sq.m will
be required to achieve BREEAM ‘very good’. A pre-BREEAM assessment has been submitted
with the application which concludes the development has an anticipated ‘Pass’ rating and
at best a ‘Good’ rating. This is because the proposal is an extension to an existing building
rather than a complete new build, therefore there are limitations to achieving some of the
BREEAM requirements. The BREEAM rating must therefore be accepted.
11.10.2 In relation to contaminated land the Environment Agency advise the site appears to have
been the subject of past industrial activity (former Marton Gasworks and landfill), which
poses a high risk of pollution to controlled waters and recommend that the Council
Environmental Protection department are consulted. They advise that the comments of the
Environment Agency are correct and a land contamination study will need to be carried out.
A condition is proposed covering this and securing any necessary remediation. The proposal
is not anticipated to impact materially on air quality. Subject to the recommended
conditions, no unacceptable impacts on environmental quality are anticipated and the
development proposed would not be at undue risk from such.
11.11 Other Issues
11.11.1 The application has been considered in the context of the Council’s general duty in all its
functions to have regard to community safety issues as required by section 17 of the Crime
and Disorder Act 1998 (as amended).
11.11.2 Under Article 8 and Article 1 of the first protocol to the Convention on Human Rights, a
person is entitled to the right to respect for private and family life, and the peaceful

Page 63

enjoyment of his/her property. However, these rights are qualified in that they must be set
against the general interest and the protection of the rights and freedoms of others. This
application does not raise any specific human rights issues.
11.11.3 Through the assessment of this application, Blackpool Council as a public authority has had
due regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty (“PSED”) under s.149 of the Equality Act and
the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of opportunity between
people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not, and to foster
or encourage good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those
who do not. The application is not considered to raise any inequality issues.
11.12 Sustainability and planning balance appraisal
11.12.1 Sustainability comprises economic, environmental and social components.
11.12.2 Economically the scheme would extend an existing retail store representing inward
investment to the town and job creation. The proposal would satisfy the sequential test and
no significant adverse impacts on existing centres or planned development are anticipated.
On this basis the scheme is considered to be economically sustainable.
11.12.3 Environmentally, no unacceptable ecological issues are anticipated and the development
would not be expected to unacceptably impact upon air, land, water quality or drainage. The
design would introduce a much fresher, more modern façade to the extension and exiting
Next store the current design of which is of its time. The development would not be at
undue risk from flood risk and would not exacerbate flood risk off site subject to conditions.
11.12.4 Socially it is considered the development would not have any impact on residential amenity.
The provision of electric vehicle (EV) charging points have been discussed with the applicant.
However, they do not own or control the car park so their provision could not be controlled
through this planning application. However, they advise that the owners of the retail park
are already looking into the provision of electric vehicle charging points for customers using
the site as there is a demand from customers. No unacceptable impacts on highway safety
are anticipated.
12.0

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

12.1

The proposal would generate increased business rates. As such, there is potential for the
Council to benefit indirectly through an increased business rates receipt. However, this
consideration has no weight in the planning balance.

13.0

CONCLUSION

13.1

In terms of planning balance, the development proposed is considered to constitute
sustainable development in terms of the environmental and social components. No other
material planning considerations have been identified that would outweigh this view.

Page 64

14.0

RECOMMENDATION

14.1

Members are respectfully recommended to approve the application, subject to the following
conditions:

1

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from
the date of this permission.
Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990 (as amended).

2

The development shall be carried out, except where modified by the conditions attached to
this permission, in accordance with the planning application received by the Local Planning
Authority including the following plans and information:
Location plan recorded as received by the Council on 16th March 20200 ref: 11335 L 001 Rev
C
Proposed detailed site plan ref. 11335 L 011 Rev D
Proposed elevations plan ref: 11335 E 002 Rev C
Proposed plans plan ref: 11335 P 013 Rev F
Proposed sections 11335 S 002 Rev B
The development shall thereafter be retained and maintained in accordance with these
approved details.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and so the Local Planning Authority can be satisfied as to
the details of the permission.

3

The external materials and surfacing materials to be used on the development hereby
approved shall be as specified on drawing no. 11335 D 001 Rev A External Materials unless
otherwise first submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to
the commencement of any above ground construction.
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the site and streetscene in accordance with
Policy CS7 of the Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 2012-2027 and Policies LQ1 and
LQ4 of the Blackpool Local Plan 2001-2016.

4

Prior to the commencement of development;
(a) a phase 1 geo-technical study into potential land contamination shall be submitted to and
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority; and
(b) should the phase 1 report required by part (a) of this condition indicate a need for site
investigation, a methodology for a phase 2 geo-technical site investigation into potential land
contamination shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority;
and

Page 65

(c) the phase 2 investigation approved pursuant to part (b) of this condition shall be carried
out in full and the results of this investigation shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by
the Local Planning Authority; and
(d) any scheme of remediation shown to be required by the investigation undertaken
pursuant to part (c) shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority; and
(e) the remediation agreed pursuant to part (d) of this condition shall be carried out in full
and a validation report confirming the works shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by
the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure a safe form of development that poses no unacceptable risk of pollution
to water resources or to human health and in accordance with Policy BH4 of the Blackpool
Local Plan 2001-2016 and Policies CS7 and CS9 of the Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core
Strategy 2012-2027. This information is required to be submitted and agreed prior to
commencement in order to ensure that the development hereby approved proceeds safely.

5

Prior to the first occupation or use of the development hereby approved:
(a) the landscaping scheme as detailed in the Clifton Retail Park Soft Works Development
Specification February 2022 (by Company of Gardeners) and accompanying Wildflower
Landscape Turf 34, Species Mix (19 February 2022) shall be implemented in full and in full
accordance with the approved details; and
(b) Any planting in accordance with this condition that are removed, uprooted, destroyed,
die or become severely damaged or seriously diseased within 7 years of planting shall be
replaced within the next planting season with trees or plants of similar size and species to
those originally required unless otherwise first submitted to and agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that the site is satisfactorily landscaped in the interests of visual amenity
and to ensure there are adequate areas of soft landscaping to act as a soakaway during times
of heavy rainfall in accordance with Policy CS7 of the Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core
Strategy 2012-2027 and Policies LQ1 and LQ6 of the Blackpool Local Plan 2001-2016.

6

Before the development hereby approved is first brought into use the cycle storage shown
on plan ref. 11335 L 011 Rev D Proposed Detailed Site Plan shall be provided and shall
thereafter be retained and maintained as such.
Reason: In order to encourage travel to and from the site by a sustainable transport mode in
accordance with Policy AS1 of the Blackpool Local Plan 2001-2016.

7

(a) Prior to the commencement of any development, a surface water drainage strategy,
based on the hierarchy of drainage options in the National Planning Practice Guidance and in
accordance with the Non-Statutory Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems
(March 2015) or any subsequent replacement national standards shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
(b) Prior to the commencement of any development, the design for a surface water drainage
scheme, based on the approved strategy and in compliance with the hierarchy of drainage

Page 66

options in the National Planning Practice Guidance and in accordance with the Non-Statutory
Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015) or any subsequent
replacement national standards shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. This scheme shall include the following:
(i) Evidence of an assessment of the site conditions to include site investigation and test
results to confirm infiltrations rates;
(ii) Surveys and appropriate evidence to establish the position, capacity, ownership and
interconnection of all bodies of water, watercourses, drains and sewers within the
application site and those outside of the site into which a direct or indirect connection is
proposed;
(iii) A determination of the lifetime of the development, design storm period and intensity (1
in 30 & 1 in 100 year + allowance for climate change - see EA advice ‘Flood risk assessments:
climate change allowances'), discharge rates and volumes (both pre and post development
and as appropriate during construction), temporary storage facilities, means of access for
maintenance and easements where applicable, the methods employed to delay and control
surface water discharged from the site, and the measures taken to prevent flooding and
pollution of the receiving groundwater and/or surface waters, including watercourses, and
details of flood levels in metres AOD;
(iv) A demonstration that the surface water run-off would not exceed the equivalent
greenfield rate OR a rate evidenced to be first agreed in writing by United Utilities.
(v) Any works required off-site to ensure adequate discharge of surface water without
causing flooding or pollution (which should include refurbishment of existing watercourses,
culverts and headwalls or removal of unused culverts where relevant);
(vi) Flood water exceedance routes, both on and off site;
(vii) Existing and proposed ground and other surface levels demonstrating that run-off to
adjacent land and highways will not occur except in the exceedance conditions and the
exceedance routes as approved;
(viii) A timetable for implementation, including phasing where applicable;
(ix) Details of water quality controls.
(c) Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, no surface water shall
discharge to the adopted sewerage system or to any privately owned sewerage either
directly or indirectly.
(d) The scheme agreed pursuant to part (b) of this condition shall be implemented in full and
in full accordance with the approved details before the development hereby approved is first
brought into use.
(e) The developer shall provide as built drawings and certification of the completion of the
drainage system as approved by a competent person.
Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage of sewage and
surface water and to manage the risk of flooding and pollution in accordance with the

Page 67

provisions of the NPPF and NPPG and Policy CS9 of the Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core
Strategy 2012-2027 and the Blackburn, Blackpool and Lancashire Flood Risk Management
Strategy.

8

The extension hereby permitted shall be limited to the retailing of the following bulky goods:
 Beds
 Bedside furniture, desks and associated furniture
 Sofas
 Armchairs
 Tables and dining chairs
 Shelving units, sideboards and associated furniture
 Home storage
 Bathroom fittings
 Bathroom furniture
 Toilet seats
 Shower units
 Lighting
 Televisions
 Irons and vacuum cleaners
 Lighting
 Plants
 Upholstery
 Paints
 Wallpaper
 Tiles
 Tools
 Carpets
 Rugs
 Wooden flooring
 Cots
 Garden furniture and lighting
 Barbecues and outdoor cooking accessories
 Planters
Reason: The application has been assessed and justified on the basis of the sale of bulky
goods only. Therefore to enable the impact of any future change in the range of goods sold
to be properly tested so as to ensure that it would not detract from the vitality and viability
of the town centre in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, Policies CS1
and CS4 of the Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 2012-2027 and Policy DM15 of the
emerging Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management
Policies.

9

Notwithstanding the definition of development as set out under section 55 of the Town and
Country Planning Act (as amended) the buildings shown within the red edge of the
application (as shown on the location plan ref: 11335 L 001 Rev C) shall be occupied as a
single trading unit by a single operator and shall not be sub-divided.
Reason: The application has been assessed and justified on the size of the extension
proposed. Therefore to enable the impact of any future sub-division to be properly tested so

Page 68

as to ensure that it would not detract from the vitality and viability of the town centre in
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, Policies CS1 and CS4 of the
Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 2012-2027 and Policy DM15 of the emerging
Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management Policies.

10

Notwithstanding The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended) no enlargement of the buildings within the red edge (as
shown on the location plan ref: 11335 L 001 Rev C) shall be carried out without the express
permission of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: The application has been assessed and justified on the size of the extension
proposed. Therefore to enable the impact of any extension to be properly tested so as to
ensure that it would not detract from the vitality and viability of the town centre in
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, Policies CS1 and CS4 of the
Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 2012-2027 and Policy DM15 of the emerging
Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management Policies.

11

The buildings shown within the red edge of the application (as shown on the location plan
ref: 11335 L 001 Rev C) shall not be used for the sale of food or drinks.
Reason: To ensure that the available off-street parking provision is adequate to serve the
needs of the development, in the interests of highway safety and to enable the impact of any
future change in the range of goods sold to be properly tested so as to ensure that it would
not detract from the vitality and viability of the town centre in accordance with the National
Planning Policy Framework, Policies CS1 and CS4 of the Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core
Strategy 2012-2027 and Policy DM15 of the emerging Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site
Allocations and Development Management Policies.

ADVICE NOTES TO DEVELOPERS
1.

This site falls within the identified safeguarding area for Blackpool Airport. As such, your
attention is drawn to the following advice notes:


http://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-1-AerodromeSafeguarding-An-Overview-2016.pdf



http://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-2-Lighting2016.pdf



http://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-3-WildlifeHazards-2016.pdf



http://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-4-Cranes2016.pdf



http://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-5-RenewableEnergy-2016.pdf

For further information and advice, please contact safeguarding@blackpoolairport.com

Page 69

2.

Cadent Gas Ltd own and operate the gas infrastructure within the area of this
development. Prior to carrying out works, please register on
www.linesearchbeforeudig.co.uk to submit details of the planned works for review,
ensuring requirements are adhered to.

Page 70

Appendix 9a: 22/0195 – Next, Clifton Retail Park
Location Plan

Proposed Site Plan
Proposed Extension

Existing Store

Page 71

Proposed Floor and Roof Plans

Proposed Elevations

Page 72

Wildflower Planting to Remaining Strip between Extension and Sandhams Way

Page 73

Site Photos

Page 74

Page 75

View from Clifton Road

Page 76

Agenda Item 10
Blackpool Council
Development Management
Officer Report to Committee

Application ref:
Ward:
Application type:
Location:
Proposal:
Recommendation:
Case officer:
Case officer contact:
Meeting date:

22/0498
Talbot
Full Application
58-60 Hornby Road, Blackpoool, FY1 4QJ
Erection of front terrace and installation of bi-fold doors at ground floor
(resubmission of application 22/0243)
Approve subject to conditions
Bethany Thornton
01253476312
26/07/2022

1.0

BLACKPOOL COUNCIL PLAN 2019-2024

1.1

The Council Plan sets out two priorities. The first is ‘the economy: maximising growth and
opportunity across Blackpool’, and the second is ‘communities: creating stronger
communities and increasing resilience.

1.2

This application accords with these priorities as it would allow for the development of an
existing holiday use within a designated holiday accommodation area.

2.0

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

2.1

This application addresses issues raised with the previous application in terms of appearance
and impact on the street scene. As such, the appearance of the proposed development is
considered acceptable and it is not considered that the development would have
unacceptable impacts on amenity.

2.2

As such, the recommendation for this application is for approval.

3.0

INTRODUCTION

3.1

This application is before Members at the request of a ward councillor.

4.0

SITE DESCRIPTION

4.1

A two-storey mid-terrace property on the northern side of Hornby Road currently in use as a
hotel. The forecourt is 4.5m deep and slopes slightly towards the highway and is marked out
for parking, though has been used for external seating during the COVID 19 pandemic. There
are dwarf walls on either side of the forecourt separating it from the neighbouring
properties and an access ramp up to the main front entrance of the hotel. There is a second
door on the other side of the frontage with a step down onto the forecourt, and large
windows on the ground floor front elevation.

2.2

The site falls within a Main Holiday Accommodation Area, the Defined Inner Area, and the
Airport Safeguarding Consultation Area.

Page 77

5.0

DETAILS OF PROPOSAL

5.1

Installation of two sets of folding doors on the front elevation and erection of 3.5m x 9.2m
decking occupying the forecourt with access ramps on either side of it and steps in the
centre. Aside from the steps, there would be 1m left between the front of the decking and
the boundary with the highway which would be occupied by planters on either side of the
steps. The terrace would be 0.4m high from street level and would have a 1.1m high
balustrade around the edges. The terrace would be used for external seating.

6.0

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

6.1

22/0243 – Erection of front terrace and installation of bi-fold doors at ground floor. –
Refused

6.2

06/0520 – External alterations to rear garage and use as altered as private store room. –
Refused

6.3

05/0891 – Erection of dormer windows to east and west elevation, Back Hornby Road. –
Granted

6.4

05/0512 – Raising height of existing roof and erection of front and rear dormers. – Refused

6.5

86/1762 – Erection of a two storey extension to form bedrooms and WCs. – Granted

6.6

86/0851 – Erection of a roof lift. – Granted

6.7

82/1997 – Erection of a two-storey rear extension to existing bedrooms and kitchen to form
WC. – Refused
Enforcement

6.8

22/8072 – Use of hotel as a food and alcohol takeaway/delivery 24 hours.

6.9

21/8499 – Certificate of Lawfulness for conversion of hotel to House in Multiple
Occupation/permanent accommodation, use of part of hotel as restaurant and display of
new signage.

7.0

MAIN PLANNING ISSUES

7.1

The main planning issues are considered to be:



Visual impact
Impact on amenity

8.0

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

8.1

Head of Highways and Traffic Management – The proposal would not have any undesirable
effect on highway safety and the cumulative impact on the road network will not be
noticeable. The loss of a few parking spaces would not lead to a noticeable impact. The
reduction in conflicts between pedestrians and those using the existing spaces would be
welcomed.

Page 78

8.2

Environmental Protection – No comments received.

9.0

REPRESENTATIONS

9.1

Neighbours notified: 15/06/2022

9.4

Three representations have been received from the following properties:




9.5

38 Hull Road
28 St Thomas Road, Lytham St Annes
Flat 3, 9 Clifton Street, Lytham St Annes

One representation objects to the development whilst two support the development. The
objection raises the following issues:







Steps at the front of the decked area are not appropriate as access cannot be managed
and it would be easy for children to run into the road or for passers-by to congregate.
Litter could build up under the decking and if smoking is allowed could catch fire.
The premises license requires the area to not be used after 10pm, however all furniture
should also be taken in to stop it being used.
Any designated smoking area should be away from the doorway to the east of the
property.
The property only has one WC with no wash basin which is not appropriate for the
increased occupancy. It may mean people using the alley between 62 and 64 Hornby
Road.
There would be a loss of 4 parking spaces currently regularly used by the guests.

The supporting comments raise the following points:






The terrace would be safer for children when being outside because of the
balustrade.
It would allow eating and drinking outside.
The decking would level out the forecourt which is currently sloped.
The forecourt is already used for seating and not parking.
The property to the east would not be affected as there would be a 1.3m gap
between the decking and the neighbouring forecourt.

10.0

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

10.1

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

10.1.1 The NPPF was adopted in July 2021. It sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable
development. The following sections are most relevant to this application:



10.2

Section 6 – Building a Strong, Competitive Economy
Section 7 – Ensuring the Vitality of Town Centres
Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

Page 79

10.2.1 The NPPG expands upon and offers clarity on the points of policy set out in the NPPF.

10.3

Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 2012-2027

10.3.1 The Core Strategy was adopted in January 2016. The following policies are most relevant to
this application:



10.4

CS7 Quality of Design
CS21 Leisure and Business Tourism
CS23 Managing Holiday Bed Spaces

Blackpool Local Plan 2011-2016 (saved policies)

10.4.1 The Blackpool Local Plan was adopted in June 2006. A number of policies in the Local Plan
have now been superseded by policies in the Core Strategy but others have been saved until
the Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management Policies has been
produced. The following saved policies are most relevant to this application:






10.5

LQ1 Lifting the Quality of Design
LQ2 Site Context
LQ14 Extensions and Alterations
BH3 Residential and Visitor Amenity
AS1 General Development Requirements (Access and Transport)
AS7 Aerodrome Safeguarding

Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management Policies
(emerging policies)

10.5.1 The Blackpool Local Plan Part 2 (Part 2) was subject to independent Examination in Public
6th-10th December 2021 and the Inspector has issued their comments. As such, weight can
be afforded to the emerging policies in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 48 of
the NPPF. The following draft policies are most relevant to this application:




10.6

DM17 Design principles
DM20 Extensions and alterations
DM41 Transport requirements for new development
DM42 Aerodrome safeguarding

Other Relevant Policy Guidance

10.6.1 Holiday Accommodation SPD – this updated document was adopted in November 2017. It
identifies the protected holiday accommodation areas across the borough and sets out how
proposals for change of use of holiday accommodation premises will be considered.
10.6.2 Blackpool Council declared a Climate Change Emergency in June 2019 and are committed to
ensuring that approaches to planning decision are in line with a shift to zero carbon by 2030.
10.6.3 Blackpool Council adopted the Blackpool Green and Blue Infrastructure (GBI) Strategy in
2019. The GBI Strategy sets out six objectives for Blackpool in terms of green infrastructure:

Page 80






Protect and Enhance GBI i.e. protecting the best and enhancing the rest
Create and Restore GBI i.e. greening the grey and creating new GBI in areas where it is
most needed
Connect and Link GBI i.e. making the links, improving connectivity and accessibility of
GBI
Promote GBI i.e. changing behaviour, promoting the benefits of GBI and encouraging
greater uptake of outdoor activity and volunteering.

10.6.4 National Model Design Code (July 2021) provides guidance to promote successful design and
expands on the ten characteristics of good design set out in the National Design Guide.
10.6.5 National Design Guide (January 2021) recognises the importance of good design and
identifies the ten characteristics that make up good design to achieve high quality places and
buildings. The guide articulates that a well-designed place is made up of its character, its
contribution to a sense of community and its ability to address the environmental issues
affecting climate.
10.6.6 The Environment Act 2021 makes provision for all planning permissions to be conditional on
the provision of biodiversity net gain. Whilst there is, as yet, not requirement set out in
statute, the Government’s clear intention is a material planning consideration. The Council
will therefore seek to secure biodiversity net gains where practicable in advance of this
becoming a statutory requirement.
11.0

ASSESSMENT

11.1

Principle

11.1.1 There are no policies that would preclude the alteration of the property in principle. It is
acknowledged that the increased seating area may facilitate the use of the ground floor as a
restaurant no longer ancillary to the hotel use; however, as this application is for the
erection of the terrace and does not include a change of use of the property, this cannot be
taken into account. In any case, the forecourt as existing may be used for external seating. It
is noted that should the ground floor be used as restaurant primarily serving members of the
public as opposed to being ancillary to the hotel use, then planning permission for a change
of use would be required and, if appropriate, formal planning enforcement action would be
considered.
11.2

Amenity

11.2.1 The primary concern regarding outdoor seating is noise nuisance to neighbouring properties.
The premises is already able to use the forecourt for seating, however it is acknowledged
that granting the proposed development would encourage the use of the forecourt on a
more frequent and permanent basis. Concerns have previously been raised by the
residents/owners of neighbouring properties regarding antisocial behaviour and noise levels
that could be generated by the development. Whilst the behaviour of guests and patrons
are a matter for the manager of the site to address, it would be considered appropriate to
restrict the use of the outdoor seating to before 10pm only to safeguard the occupants of
neighbouring properties from unreasonable noise nuisance at unsociable hours.
11.2.2 As mentioned above, the forecourt can already be used for external seating. The erection of
a terraced with a balustrade to enclose it would make it safer for guests and particularly
children as there would be a clear separation from the road.

Page 81

11.2.3 Subject to the imposition of conditions restricting the hours of use of the terrace, it is not
considered that the proposed development would have any unacceptable material planning
impacts on amenity.
11.2.4 It is not considered that the raised height of the decking or the provision of the balustrade
would have a detrimental impact on neighbouring amenity through loss of privacy or light or
through an over-bearing presence.
11.3

Appearance

11.3.1 Policy CS7 of the Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy states that new development is
required to be well designed, and enhance the character and appearance of the local area. It
states that development will not be permitted that causes unacceptable effects by reason of
visual intrusion or any other adverse local impact on local character or amenity. Policy LQ1
of the Local Plan sets out that new development will be expected to make a positive
contribution to the quality of its surroundings and Policy LQ2 sets out that new development
will be considered in relation to the character and setting of the surrounding area.
11.3.2 The majority of the forecourts on Hornby Road are not built up; they have low walls along
the side boundaries to separate the forecourts, and either flat or sloping surfaces frequently
used for parking. Whilst use of the forecourt of the premises for seating would not in itself
have an unacceptable impact on the appearance and character of the street scene, and
would in fact help to make the frontage appear more engaging and reduce the parkingdominated frontages across the street, this should be done in a way that does not have an
intrusive presence in the street scene.
11.3.3 Planning permission has recently been refused for a terrace at the property which extended
up to the boundary with the highway, meaning there would have been a 1.5m high
boundary treatment immediately adjacent to the pavement which would have had an
overbearing and intrusive impact on the highway, in juxtaposition to the rest of the
forecourts which in most cases have no front boundary treatment at all.
11.3.4 Following this refusal, amendments have been made to pull the edge of the decking 1m
away from the boundary with the highway and instead use this space for planters at street
level which would make for a softer transition between the street and the raised forecourt
and balustrade. It is considered that these amendments would address the previous
concerns with the relationship between the development and the street scene and would
still allow for enhancement of the existing forecourt. As such, following these amendments,
the appearance of the proposed terrace is considered acceptable.
11.3.5 The proposed bi-folding doors would be in the same position as the existing large
rectangular windows on the front elevation and the plans indicate that the materials used
would be grey and brown painted softwood and brown uPVC to match the existing windows
and doors. It is not considered that changing the windows to doors would have an
unacceptable impact on the appearance of the property and would remain in keeping with
the character of other frontages in the street scene which have large windows and a lot of
glazing.
11.4

Other Considerations

Page 82

11.4.1 As existing, the forecourt has vehicle access and lines indicate that it is designated for
parking. The proposals would result in the loss of parking provision on the forecourt which
may increase pressure for on-street parking. However, Hornby Road is subject to parking
restrictions, therefore parking cannot be displaced onto the road and patrons of the site will
either need to use public transport use the parking facilities in the Town Centre and walk to
the site. The site is an accessible location, and if the hotel owner considers that the loss of
parking is in the best interests of their business there is no reason for the Council to object
as the loss of parking would not have any unacceptable impact on highway safety or
function, and would not inconvenience neighbours. The preclusion of the use of the
forecourt for parking would also have a positive impact on highway safety as it would reduce
conflict between vehicles accessing the forecourt and pedestrians using the footpath.
11.4.2 No drainage or flood risk issues identified.
11.4.3 The proposal would not affect any features of particular ecological interest or trees of
significant value. As such, no unacceptable biodiversity impacts are anticipated.
11.4.4 The proposal would not have any impact on air, land or water quality and there is no reason
to suppose that the development would be at undue risk from contamination.
11.4.5 The application has been considered in the context of the Council’s general duty in all its
functions to have regard to community safety issues as required by section 17 of the Crime
and Disorder Act 1998 (as amended).
11.4.6 Under Article 8 and Article 1 of the first protocol to the Convention on Human Rights, a
person is entitled to the right to respect for private and family life, and the peaceful
enjoyment of his/her property. However, these rights are qualified in that they must be set
against the general interest and the protection of the rights and freedoms of others. This
application does not raise any specific human rights issues.
11.4.7 Through the assessment of this application, Blackpool Council as a public authority has had
due regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty (“PSED”) under s.149 of the Equality Act and
the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of opportunity between
people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not, and to foster
or encourage good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those
who do not. The application is not considered to raise any inequality issues.
11.5

Sustainability and planning balance appraisal

11.5.1 Sustainability comprises economic, environmental and social components.
11.5.2 Economically the scheme would have limited impact but would support an existing business.
11.5.3 Environmentally, the appearance of the scheme is considered acceptable and no
unacceptable drainage, ecological, or environmental impacts are anticipated.
11.5.4 Socially, no unacceptable highway or flood risk impacts are identified. Conditions could be
imposed on any permission in addition to licencing restrictions to limit the hours of use of
external seating areas and safeguard the amenity of nearby residents and visitors as far as
practicable.
11.5.5 In terms of planning balance, the development proposed is considered to constitute

Page 83

sustainable development in terms of the environmental and social components. No other
material planning considerations have been identified that would outweigh this view.
12.0

CONCLUSION

12.1

As set out above, the scheme is considered to represent sustainable development and no
other material planning considerations have been identified that would outweigh this
assessment. On this basis, planning permission should be approved.

13.0

RECOMMENDATION

13.1

Approve subject to the following conditions:

1

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from
the date of this permission.
Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990 (as amended).

2

The development shall be carried out, except where modified by the conditions attached to
this permission, in accordance with the planning application received by the Local Planning
Authority including the following plans and information:
Location Plan received by the Council on 14/06/2022 and drawings;
Proposed Floor Plan and Elevations - A022/031/P/01 Rev B
The development shall thereafter be retained and maintained in accordance with these
approved details.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and so the Local Planning Authority can be satisfied as to
the details of the permission.

3

(a) The external terrace hereby approved all not be used outside of the hours of 0900-2200.
(b) At no time outside of the hours of 0900-2100 or when amplified music is being played
internally shall the doors hereby approved be held, fixed, propped or otherwise kept open.
(c) No amplified music shall be played externally on the terrace hereby approved.
For the purpose of part (b) of this condition, amplified music would not include low-level,
background music above which a conversation can be easily maintained.
Reason: In order to safeguard the amenities of nearby residents and visitors in accordance
with Policy CS7 of the Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 2012-2027 and Policy BH3 of
the Blackpool Local Plan 2001-2016.

Page 84

Appendix 10a: 22/0498 – 58-60 Hornby Road
Location Plan

Proposed Plans

Page 85

Site Photos

Page 86

Agenda Item 11
Blackpool Council
Development Management
Officer Report to Committee

Application ref:
Ward:
Application type:
Location:
Proposal:

Recommendation:
Case officer:
Case officer contact:
Meeting date:

21/01062
Bispham
FULL
LAND AT 8 NORBRECK ROAD, BLACKPOOL FY5 1RP
Erection of a part 4 storey part 5 storey building comprising 35 assisted
living flats (affordable housing for rent) with shared residential areas and
associated landscaping, car parking and external amenity space.
Approve
Clare Johnson
476224
26/07/2022

1.0

BLACKPOOL COUNCIL PLAN 2019-2024

1.1

The Council Plan sets out two priorities. The first is ‘the economy: maximising growth and
opportunity across Blackpool’, and the second is ‘communities: creating stronger
communities and increasing resilience.

1.2

This application accords with both priorities as it would regenerate a long standing vacant
site and provide affordable assisted living homes which meet an identified need.

2.0

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

2.1

The scheme is considered to represent sustainable development and the housing proposed
would make a contribution towards meeting the borough’s housing needs. The
recommendation is therefore that the Committee grant planning permission, subject to
conditions.

3.0

INTRODUCTION

3.1

This application is before Members because it is a major scheme of public interest.

4.0

SITE DESCRIPTION

4.1

The former Mariners public house was demolished in 2008 following extensive fire damage.
The application site is around 0.19ha (1,900sqm) and is roughly triangular with a site
frontage of some 40m along Norbreck Road. The site is located close to the junction with
Queens Promenade and sits opposite Norbeck Castle.

4.2

The site is bisected by an alley gated access road connecting Norcliffe Road and Chatsworth
Avenue. The front half of the site, where the pub was located, has been cleared and
enclosed with hoardings for a number of years. The rear half of the site is hard surfaced and
was previously used as a car park in association with the pub. An electricity sub-station sits
adjacent the rear of the application site.

Page 87

4.3

Other than the two/ three/ four/ six and seven storey scale Norbreck Castle with an
extensive frontage onto Queens Promenade, and a designated local centre a short distance
further up Norbreck Road, the character of the area is of one, two and three storey
residential property.

4.4

The site is allocated for housing in the emerging Local Plan: Part 2 (site reference HSA1.1)
and that allocation expects that 35 dwellings to be delivered on site. The site is within Flood
Zone 1 and no other designations or constraints have been identified.

5.0

DETAILS OF PROPOSAL

5.1

The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of a part 4 and part 5 storey
assisted living development for people over the age of 55. The development would comprise
35 flats which would be let as affordable housing for rent. There would be a lobby,
manager’s office, buggy store and a communal lounge/kitchen on the ground floor along
with 4 x 1-bed flats and a 2-bed flat. The first, second and third floors would each have 7 x 1bed flats and a 2-bed flat and the fourth floor would comprise 5 x 1-bed flats and a 2-bed
flat. All of the floors could be accessed by a passenger lift. The communal lounge would
provide access to 2 shared, landscaped amenity spaces to the rear.

5.2

At the rear and across the back street, there would be a small enclosed, shared garden and
18 off-street parking spaces (including 2 accessible spaces) and an enclosed refuse store.

5.3

There would be vehicle access from Norbreck Road to the east of the development, which
would connect to the back street and the car parking spaces, although the car parking
spaces could also be accessed off Norcliffe Road or Chatsworth Avenue.

5.4

The building would have flat roofs with a maximum height of around 14.5m and would
reduce in height to around 11.7m adjacent 14 Norbreck Road. On the front elevation, all of
the windows would be full height including Juliet balconies. The glazing on the north-west
corner would wrap around from the front elevation to the west elevation to create a glazed
corner feature facing towards the Promenade.

5.5

Much of the glazing on the west elevation, closest to properties on the Promenade, would
be obscure glazing to prevent loss of privacy for those properties. The south elevation would
again include many full height windows and Juliet balconies to main living spaces. The east
elevation would largely be blank, given its proximity to existing properties to the east.

5.6

In terms of materials, the elevations would be a mix of red brick slips and off white render
on the main elevations and grey fibre cement cladding on the top floor.

5.7

A dwarf boundary wall would be erected along the Norbreck Road frontage with planting
behind and 1.8m high fencing would enclose and secure the amenity spaces to the rear.

5.8

The application has been supported by:
 Planning Statement
 Design and Access Statement
 Affordable Housing Statement
 Supporting Statement
 Planning Statement

Page 88

6.0

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

6.1

07/1092 – Erection of a part four, five and six-storey block comprising thirty-five, selfcontained apartments, formation of refuse and cycle store, vehicular access and
hardstanding for the parking of 37 vehicles. Approved 25/02/2008

6.2

19/0720 – Erection of a four/ five and six storey block 34 self-contained apartments
including refuse store, cycle store, landscaping and vehicular access from Norbreck Road
with car parking for 30 vehicles to the rear. Approved 23/01/2020

7.0

MAIN PLANNING ISSUES

7.1.1

The main planning issues are considered to be:






the principle of development
housing mix, density and standards
visual impact
impact on residential amenity
highway impact

8.0

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

8.1

Environment Agency – No comments have been received at the time of preparing this
report. Any comments that are received before the Committee meeting will be reported in
the update note.

8.2

United Utilities – The drainage plans are not acceptable to United Utilities because robust
evidence has not been provided to demonstrate that the drainage hierarchy has been
thoroughly investigated. The proposals are not in line with the Non-Statutory Technical
Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems. UU request reasoning as to why the surface
water sewer isn't a viable solution. Secondly, the proposed drainage strategy includes cover
levels on the proposed network which are situated lower than the cover level on the
receiving network (e.g. S1-1/5 & F1-1/5). UU recommend that all finished floor levels are set
above the adjacent manhole cover level and all cover levels on site are set above the
receiving cover level in order to minimise the risk to the proposed properties from
surcharging sewers and the potential to introduce new hydraulic low points on our network.
Should planning permission be granted, UU request the standard conditions are imposed.

8.3

Electricity North West – The development is shown to be adjacent to or affect Electricity
North West’s operational land or electricity distribution assets. The consultation response
sets out their requirements from the developer and refers the developer to the relevant
Health and Safety Executive publications.

8.4

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group – request £12,880 financial contribution towards the
reconfiguration at Moor Park Health centre surgery for additional clinical capacity. Failure to
secure the contribution requested would result in an objection to the application.

8.5

Police Architectural Liaison Officer – Raises concerns over security and lack of lighting and
CCTV along the new access, lack of enclosure and lighting of the private amenity spaces. The
car park should be lit and have formal surveillance. Gives general security advice regarding
internal lighting, windows and doors and CCTV.

Page 89

8.6

Officer notes – amended plans have been submitted indicating CCTV and lighting along the
new access, lighting in the car park and a 1.8m high enclosure around the private amenity
spaces.

8.7

Head of Highways and Traffic Management - no objection to the type of development or to
the scale. No objection to the car parking numbers given the submitted evidence and the
site is sufficiently accessible. A condition similar to condition 9 in the decision on 19/0720 is
necessary. Whilst they do have a proposed access from Norbreck Road, the back street to
the rear will be used both to/from the east and south on foot and by vehicles. The Council
would adopt it on completion if the developer accepts the specification and an agreement.
The developer may wish to consider waiting restrictions in the back street and the Council
would support that. A CMP condition is required. The proposed access at Norbreck Road
should have a dropped crossing. Any gate should be at least 6m clear of the back of footway
and opening only inward.

8.8

Head of Strategic Housing – From a strategic housing / housing need perspective, the
addition of 35 high quality homes for older people being developed in this location is
supported in principle, due to this providing a more modern housing option, and appropriate
local amenities critical to independent living. Ideally all homes should be developed to a fully
accessible standard, to ensure future proofing, and for the homes to be ring-fenced to those
with a Blackpool Connection, as per the local authority’s allocation policy. Nominations
should/could also be considered. Rents should be genuinely affordable, both for residents in
receipt of benefits, and those who are not.

8.9

Adult Social Care - No comments have been received at the time of preparing this report.
Any comments that are received before the Committee meeting will be reported in the
update note.

8.10

Lead Local Flood Authority - No comments have been received at the time of preparing this
report. Any comments that are received before the Committee meeting will be reported in
the update note.

8.11

Environmental Protection - No comments have been received at the time of preparing this
report. Any comments that are received before the Committee meeting will be reported in
the update note.

8.12

Waste - No comments have been received at the time of preparing this report. Any
comments that are received before the Committee meeting will be reported in the update
note.

9.0

REPRESENTATIONS

9.1

Press notice published: 19/01/2022

9.2

Site notice published: 22/01/2022

9.3

Neighbours notified: 12/01/2022

9.4

No representations have been received at the time of preparing this report. Any
representations that are received before the Committee meeting will be reported in the
update note.

Page 90

10.0

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

10.1

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

10.1.1 The NPPF was adopted in July 2021. It sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable
development. The following sections are most relevant to this application:





10.2

Section 5 - Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
Section 8 - Promoting healthy and safe communities
Section 11 - Making effective use of land
Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places
Section 14 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

10.2.1 The NPPG expands upon and offers clarity on the points of policy set out in the NPPF.
10.3

Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 2012-2027

10.3.1 The Core Strategy was adopted in January 2016. The following policies are most relevant to
this application:









10.4

CS2
CS6
CS7
CS9
CS11
CS12
CS13
CS14
CS15

Housing Provision
Green Infrastructure
Quality of Design
Water Management
Planning Obligations
Sustainable Neighbourhoods
Housing Mix, Density and Standards
Affordable Housing
Health and Education

Blackpool Local Plan 2011-2016 (saved policies)

10.4.1 The Blackpool Local Plan was adopted in June 2006. A number of policies in the Local Plan
have now been superseded by policies in the Core Strategy but others have been saved until
the Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management Policies has been
produced. The following saved policies are most relevant to this application:








BH3
BH4
BH10
LQ1
LQ2
LQ4
LQ6

Residential Amenity
Public Health and Safety
Open Space in New Housing Developments
Lifting the Quality of Design
Site Context
Building Design
Landscape and Biodiversity

Page 91

10.5

Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management Policies
(emerging policies)

10.5.1 The Blackpool Local Plan Part 2 (Part 2) was the subject of independent Examination in
Public in December 2021. The Inspector has now issued his comments. As such, weight can
be attached to the emerging policies in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 48 of
the NPPF. The following emerging policies in Part 2 are most relevant to this application:








10.6

DM1
DM3
DM17
DM21
DM31
DM35
DM36
DM41

Design Requirements for New Build Housing
Supported Accommodation and Housing for Older People
Design Principles
Landscaping
Surface Water Management
Biodiversity
Controlling Pollution and Contamination
Transport Requirements for New Development

Other Relevant Policy Guidance

10.6.1 Fylde Coast Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2014 and the Council’s Housing Plan for
the Ageing Population 2017 – 2020.
10.6.2 Blackpool Council declared a Climate Change Emergency in June 2019 and is committed to
ensuring that approaches to planning decision are in line with a shift to zero carbon by 2030.
10.6.3 Blackpool Council adopted the Blackpool Green and Blue Infrastructure (GBI) Strategy in
2019. The GBI Strategy sets out six objectives for Blackpool in terms of green infrastructure:
 Protect and Enhance GBI i.e. protecting the best and enhancing the rest
 Create and Restore GBI i.e. greening the grey and creating new GBI in areas where it is
most needed
 Connect and Link GBI i.e. making the links, improving connectivity and accessibility of
GBI
 Promote GBI i.e. changing behaviour, promoting the benefits of GBI and encouraging
greater uptake of outdoor activity and volunteering.
10.6.4 National Model Design Code (July 2021) provides guidance to promote successful design and
expands on the ten characteristics of good design set out in the National Design Guide.
10.6.5 National Design Guide (January 2021) recognises the importance of good design and
identifies the ten characteristics that make up good design to achieve high-quality places
and buildings. The guide articulates that a well-designed place is made up of its character, its
contribution to a sense of community, and its ability to address the environmental issues
affecting climate.
10.6.6 DCLG National Technical Housing Standards – this document was published in March 2015
and sets out the national minimum standards for new homes. This partially supersedes some
of the standards in the Council’s New Homes from Old Places SPD guidance.
10.6.7 The Environment Act 2021 makes provision for all planning permissions to be conditional on
the provision of biodiversity net gain. Whilst there is, as yet, not requirement set out in

Page 92

statute, the Government’s clear intention is a material planning consideration. The Council
will therefore seek to secure biodiversity net gains where practicable in advance of this
becoming a statutory requirement.

11.0

ASSESSMENT

11.1

Principle

11.1.1 The principle of re-developing this vacant site for residential use was established with the
granting of planning permission for 35 apartments in February 2008 under ref: 07/1092 and
again for 34 apartments in January 2020 under ref: 19/0720. Furthermore, since January
2020, the Blackpool Local Plan, Part 2 (Part 2) has been published and was the subject of
independent Examination in Public in December 2021 and Part 2 allocates this site for
housing for 35 dwellings. As such, the principle of residential continues to be acceptable,
subject to other policy requirements.
11.1.2 The previously approved schemes were for market homes whereas this application proposes
assisted living flats for those over the age of 55, which would be let on an affordable rent
basis and managed by a registered provider.
11.1.3 Part 5 of the NPPF requires Local Authorities to address the needs of groups with specific
housing requirements. Saved Policy BH24 sets out that community care residential
developments will be permitted in appropriate locations subject to the type of use
proposed, a demonstration of local need, the intensity of use and its effect on adjacent
properties, the suitability of the premises and the location and a management plan for the
operation of the premises. BH24 also states that no community residential uses meeting
similar specialist needs will be permitted within 400m of existing properties meeting similar
needs.
11.1.4 Emerging Policy DM3 largely reiterates BH24 but also requires applications to be supported
by the relevant commissioning managers, that sites are accessible, and that proposals
maintain or enhance residential character and that there are sufficient good quality and
accessible landscaped amenity areas.
Demonstration of local need
11.1.5 Section 4 of the submitted Affordable Housing Statement (AHS) deals with need and makes
reference to Fylde Coast Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2014 (SHMA), which confirms
that the population of people over the age of 65 in Blackpool, is expected to increase by
19.4% by 2030. The SHMA also states that the growth forecast of people over the age of 85
will necessitate the provision of specialist accommodation to meet specific housing
requirements and this demonstrates that there is a need generally in Blackpool for housing
suitable for older people.
11.1.6 The SHMA also identifies that older people tend to under-occupy housing that would be
suitable for families with children and that these homes could become available for family
occupation through the provision of appropriate accessible dwellings which match the
aspirations of a growing older person cohort. The SHMA indicates that there is also a
growing need for affordable housing for all age groups, with the greatest need for affordable
housing with one, two or three bedrooms.

Page 93

11.1.7 The AHS also refers to the latest Housing Topic Paper which refers to the need for good
quality affordable housing across the borough and the Blackpool Housing Affordability
Study, which indicates that there is a need for affordable homes which better meet the
needs of particular groups, like older people with limited mobility. The Housing Affordability
Study concludes that there is a gap in Blackpool’s current housing stock which meets the
needs of the borough’s older population and residents with support needs.
11.1.8 The AHS confirms that the northern wards of Blackpool (Bispham, Anchorsholme, Norbreck,
Ingthorpe, Warbreck and Greenlands) have a larger than average number of older people
and a significant number of those older people are classified as being deprived, with poorer
health and lower life expectancy than the national average.
11.1.9 In terms of the allocation of these dwellings, the applicant has confirmed that they are
content to work with the Council to ensure that the proposed units meet the local needs for
affordable homes, including through receipt of nominations from the local authority.
11.1.10 As such, it is considered that the proposed would meet an identified need and conditions
requiring that the development can only be occupied by a person over the age of 55 and
that the accommodation must be affordable homes for rent (as defined in the NPPF), will
ensure that the development continues to meet a local need.
Intensity of use and its effect on adjacent properties
11.1.11 The proposed development would have the greatest impact on 2 and 14 Norbreck Road. As
the rear elevation of the development would be at least around 23m away from properties
fronting Chatsworth Avenue and at least 28m from properties fronting Norcliffe Road, and
would be to the north of those properties, it would not have an unacceptable impact on
residential amenity for any occupants of those properties.
11.1.12 The detached building would be around 7.6m away from the rear/side elevation of 2
Norbreck Road and would be around 0.7m closer to that elevation and approximately 2.4m
taller on that corner than previously approved. There would be some loss of sunlight in the
early mornings in the summer months for the rear gardens and rear elevations of 2 Norbreck
Road and 344 Queens Promenade which does weigh against the scheme. However, the
impact is not considered to be significantly worse than the impact that was found, on
balance, to be acceptable in the previously approved schemes. There are windows in the
west elevation which face the rear elevations of 2 Norbreck Road and properties on Queens
Promenade. However, the closest windows would be obscure glazed so would not impact on
privacy. These obscure glazed windows would either afford light to circulation spaces or to
main living spaces which have outlook through other windows facing north or south.
11.1.13 The development would be between around 4.5m and 10.8m from the boundary with 14
Norbreck Road which is no closer than the previously approved scheme and around the
same height. There would be some loss of light to the side elevation of 14 Norbreck Road in
the late evening in the summer months. However, this impact is no worse than the
previously approved schemes. There are no are no windows on the upper floors on the east
elevation closest to the side elevation of 14 Norbreck Road. Towards the rear, the east
elevation is set in and there are upper floor windows to bedrooms and main living spaces.
These windows would be around 10.8m away from the rear amenity space at 14 Norbreck
Road but would not face any habitable room windows.

Page 94

11.1.14 The development would have some impact on the amenities of the neighbouring properties,
but similar impacts have, on balance, been found to be acceptable in previously approved
schemes. The identified impacts are not considered to be unacceptable in this instance.
11.1.15 There is no reason to assume that the occupants of the new development would generate
unacceptable levels of noise.
11.1.16 In terms of the intensity of the use, the proposal is for 35 units of accommodation which is
similar to previously approved schemes and the site is allocated for 35 dwellings in the
emerging Part 2. The development cannot therefore be considered to be too intense and the
use would not have an unacceptable impact on adjacent properties.
Suitability of the premises and the location/accessibilty
11.1.17 The apartments would meet or exceed the floorspace standards in the Nationally Described
Space Standards and would all be accessible and adaptable (M4(2) of the Building
Regulations) or wheelchair accessible (M4(3) of the Building Regulations). There would be
two passenger lifts which would access all floors and a buggy store would be provided on
the ground floor to allow the secure storage of mobility scooters and bicycles.
11.1.18 The site is in an accessible location, close to shops, services and on good public transport
routes.
11.1.19 As such, the proposed development and the location is suitable for the intended occupants.
Management plan
11.1.20 No Management Plan has been submitted, although the Supporting Statement states that
there will be an on-site manager and the apartments would be fitted with a 24 hour
emergency alarm. A more detailed Management Plan could be required by condition should
Members feel this is necessary. However, given the nature of the proposed users and the
fact that the proposed building is detached and with on-site management, officers do not
consider that a Management Plan is necessary in this instance.
Residential character
11.1.21 With the exception of the Norbreck Castle to the north and the local centre to the east, the
area is residential in character. Given the scale of the development and the material palettes
proposed, the development, would not be out of character with the area, subject to
agreeing the materials on site. The provision of a dwarf boundary wall and planting along
the Norbreck Road frontage would introduce residential character.
Good quality landscaped amenity areas
11.1.22 There would be three separate landscaped amenity areas to benefit residents, along with
landscaping along the west and front of the site. Whilst there are no current standards in
place, this amenity space provision is considered to be sufficient. A detailed landscaping
scheme would be agreed by condition.

Page 95

Other specialist facilities meeting similar needs within 400m
11.1.23 There is a small sheltered housing development to the east at 88-90 Norbreck Road but this
development is understood to comprise 10 rented rooms with shared facilities and one selfcontained flat and so represents a different type of housing for older people than the selfcontained apartments proposed.
11.1.24 No other facilities meeting similar needs have been identified within 400m of the site.
11.1.25 The Head of Strategic Housing supports the principle of the addition of 35 apartments for
older people in this location and a condition can be imposed requiring that the development
can only be occupied by people with a local connection and who are nominated by Blackpool
Council as per the local authority’s allocation policy. On this basis and on balance, the
provision of this type of specialist housing in this location would meet the requirements of
Saved Policy BH24 and emerging Policy DM3 and is therefore acceptable in principle and
would support the aims and objectives set out in the Council’s Older Persons Strategy.
11.2

Housing Mix

11.2.1 Policy CS13 requires that 70% of the accommodation coming forward in flat developments,
should have two or more bedrooms. Out of the 35 apartments proposed, only 5 would have
2 bedrooms (14.3%) and this weighs against the scheme in the planning balance. However,
the development would not conflict with wider efforts for the provision of balanced and
healthy communities. Given that the development would be for the over 55s and the
accommodation would be accessible and adaptable or wheelchair accessible and the
provision of communal spaces and facilities, it is not considered that the lack of two
bedroom units in this case would warrant refusal of the application.
11.2.2 In terms of the other requirements of Policy CS13, the scheme makes the most efficient use
of land with the optimum density as set out in the sites’ housing allocation. The
development would contribute towards the Council's housing supply and bring a long
standing vacant site back into beneficial use and this weighs more heavily in the planning
balance than the lack of two bedroom units in this instance.
11.3

Planning Obligations

11.3.1 The development would provide 100% affordable housing for rent and they would be
conditioned as such. Therefore there is no conflict with Policy CS14 which relates to
affordable housing provision.
11.3.2 No Public Open Space is proposed on the site and none could be provided. A contribution of
£18,920 for the provision or enhancement of off-site public open space it therefore
required, as calculated under SPG11 (the Greening Blackpool SPD had not been adopted at
the time of the submission of the planning application).
11.3.3 The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group are also requesting a £12,880 financial contribution
towards the reconfiguration at Moor Park Health centre surgery for additional clinical
capacity.
11.3.4 This totals £31,800 and would normally be secured by a Section 106 agreement in advance
of the granting of planning permission.

Page 96

11.3.5 However, the Council accepted viability arguments with the previously approved scheme for
34 market homes and waived the need for the scheme to provide a contribution towards
off-site affordable housing. A condition was imposed however, requiring the payment of
£21,844 towards off-site public open space provision or enhancement. It is understood that
the approved scheme for market homes will not now be brought forward.
11.3.6 A full viability assessment has not been submitted for assessment by the Councils viability
consultants. However, if there were viability issues for market homes coming forward, a
scheme for affordable housing is likely to experience similar issues. The applicant has
submitted a breakdown of how the costs of bringing the development forward have
increased and states that the construction industry is facing unprecedented price and supply
issues with respect to the labour and material market. When the site was first assessed, it
was estimated that the works would cost £5.4 million but this has risen to nearly £6.5 million
and costs are still rising.
11.3.7 The applicant asserts that the financial challenges of delivering the development at this
time, will only further be exacerbated by any requirement to make the required
contributions.
11.3.8 The development not being able to make the required contributions weighs heavily against
the scheme and the NHS CCG have confirmed that if the Council do not secure the
contribution they have requested, they object to the proposal.
11.3.9 However, given how long this site has stood vacant, previous permissions have not been
implemented and that the scheme presents an opportunity to provide good quality,
affordable and accessible homes for our older population, for which there is a demonstrated
need, it is considered that this should be afforded more weight in the planning balance than
the lack of developer contributions in this instance.
11.4

Visual Impact

11.4.1 The scheme has been amended since first submission to set the top floor back and for it to
be clad in a contrasting material in order to reduce the bulk of the building visually, and to
create visual interest. The elevations are staggered and have sufficient articulation and more
detailed profiles could be agreed by condition, to ensure that the elevations have sufficient
texture and depth.
11.4.2 The entrance would be off Norbreck Road and would be accessed under a projecting canopy.
Amended plans have been requested to include a further design detail around the entrance
to further define it. The amended details will be reported through the Update Note.
11.4.3 In terms of the scale of the building, a plan has been submitted which shows the
development in comparison to the outlines of the two previously approved schemes and the
Mariners public house which once stood on the site, when viewed in the Norbreck Road
streetscene. The proposed building is generally not as tall as the previously approved
schemes, with the exception of the north west corner and west elevation, which is
approximately 2.4m taller.
11.4.4 Materials, boundary treatments and landscaping could all be agreed by condition.

Page 97

11.5

Access, highway safety and parking

11.5.1 There is an existing vehicle access along the east of the site and this would be widened and
gated. The Head of Highways and Traffic Management has stated that the new access gate
needs to be set back 6m clear of the back of footway and opening only inward. An amended
site layout plan has been requested showing the gate set back and such amendments will be
reported in the update note.
11.5.2 The Head of Highways and Traffic Management has requested a condition similar to
condition 9 on the 19/0720 permission which would involve the upgrade of the rear access
road to adoptable standards, upgraded street lighting at the new entrance onto Norbreck
Road and at the rear access from Norcliffe Road and works associated with widened crossing
onto Norbreck Road.
11.5.3 In terms of car parking, there would be 18 spaces which is well short of the required spaces
if these were to be apartments for general occupation. The previously approved application,
ref. 19/0720, proposed 30 spaces for 34 apartments. The layout now proposed shows
significantly more garden amenity space for the enjoyment of residents. This is considered
to be a better use of the space given the proposed occupation of the building. In addition,
the parking standards in Appendix D1 of Part 2 states that for sheltered housing schemes,
one parking space for every two dwellings is required and the number of parking spaces
complies with this requirement. Furthermore, the Supporting Statement indicates that the
proposed registered provider has 224 other similar developments and on average, only 40%
of their households have a car. As such and on balance, the parking provision is considered
to be appropriate and the Head of Highways and Traffic Management Services has raised no
objection subject to the submission and agreement of a Construction Management Plan,
which could be secured by condition.
11.5.4 A Travel Plan should be secured by condition, to encourage travel to and from the site by
sustainable transport modes.
11.6

Drainage and flood risk

11.6.1 The application site is within Flood Zone 1 and, given that the site is a housing allocation in
Part 2, it has been assessed for flood risk in the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment in
consultation and agreement with the Environment Agency. As such, the applicant does not
need to demonstrate compliance with the sequential or exceptions test.
11.6.2 An indicative drainage strategy has been submitted but United Utilities have found it to be
unacceptable as it does not demonstrate that the drainage hierarchy has been thoroughly
investigated and the proposals are not in line with the Non-Statutory Technical Standards for
Sustainable Drainage Systems. United Utilities have made further recommendations and are
requiring the imposition of their standard drainage conditions so that the details can be
agreed in advance of the commencement of development.
11.6.3 On this basis, the development is not considered to be a risk of flooding, and subject to the
submission and agreement of a satisfactory drainage strategy which is agreed by United
Utilities, the proposal should not increase flood risk off-site.

Page 98

11.7

Biodiversity impact

11.7.1 The site is largely filled with rubble and the rear part of the site is hard surfaced, although
vegetation is growing through. The site is not considered to be particularly ecologically
sensitive and so no ecological appraisal has been required.
11.7.2 However, a landscaping scheme and provision for other ecological enhancements should be
agreed by condition in order to provide biodiversity benefits.
11.8

Other issues

11.8.1 No unacceptable environmental impacts on air, water or land quality have been identified
and there are no heritage assets on or immediately around the site.
11.8.2 The application has been considered in the context of the Council’s general duty in all its
functions to have regard to community safety issues as required by section 17 of the Crime
and Disorder Act 1998 (as amended).
11.8.3 Under Article 8 and Article 1 of the first protocol to the Convention on Human Rights, a
person is entitled to the right to respect for private and family life, and the peaceful
enjoyment of his/her property. However, these rights are qualified in that they must be set
against the general interest and the protection of the rights and freedoms of others. This
application does not raise any specific human rights issues.
11.8.4 Through the assessment of this application, Blackpool Council as a public authority has had
due regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty (“PSED”) under s.149 of the Equality Act and
the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of opportunity between
people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not, and to foster
or encourage good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those
who do not. The application is not considered to raise any inequality issues.
11.9

Sustainability and planning balance appraisal

11.9.1 Sustainability comprises economic, environmental and social components.
11.9.2 Economically the scheme would have a very limited impact but the creation of new
affordable residential units would help to support local shops and services and some
employment would be generated during construction.
11.9.3 Environmentally, no ecological issues are anticipated and the development would not be
expected to unacceptably impact upon air, land, water quality or drainage. Following the
amendments made to the design of the development, the design of the proposal is
considered to be acceptable. The proposal is considered to be environmentally sustainable.
11.9.4 Socially, the scheme would provide good quality affordable and accessible accommodation
for Blackpool’s older population and would make a contribution towards the Councils
housing supply. Planning obligations would not be met and this weighs heavily against the
scheme, but is considered to be sufficiently outweighed by the benefits the scheme would
deliver in terms of bringing a long-derelict site back into beneficial use to meet a recognised
housing need. No adverse impacts with regard to flood risk and highway safety have been
identified, subject to the conditions.

Page 99

12.0

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

12.1

The development proposed would generate Council Tax receipts. However, this
consideration has no weight in the planning balance.

13.0

CONCLUSION

13.1

In light of the above and on balance, the development proposed is considered to constitute
sustainable development and no other material planning considerations have been
identified that would outweigh this view.

14.0

RECOMMENDATION

14.1

Members are respectfully recommended to grant planning permission subject to the
conditions listed below:

1

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from
the date of this permission.
Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990 (as amended).

2

The development shall be carried out, except where modified by the conditions attached to
this permission, in accordance with the planning application received by the Local Planning
Authority including the following plans and information:
Location plan recorded as received by the Council on 16/12/2021
Proposed site layout plan and Ground Floor Plan ref. JBA506-PL-002 Rev D (subject to
amendments)
Proposed First and Second Floor Plan ref. JBA506-PL-003 Rev B
Proposed Third and Fourth Floor Plan ref. JBA506-PL-004 Rev B
Proposed North Elevation ref. JBA506-PL-005 Rev D (subject to amendments)
Proposed East Elevation ref. JBA506-PL-006 Rev D
Proposed South Elevation ref. JBA506-PL-007 Rev D
Proposed West Elevation ref. JBA506-PL-008 Rev E
Proposed Norbreck Road Context Elevation ref. JBA506-PL-010 Rev C
Proposed Surfacing Layout ref. E2333 C-1300 S4-P2 dated 13/12/2021
The development shall thereafter be retained and maintained in accordance with these
approved details.

Page 100

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and so the Local Planning Authority can be satisfied as to
the details of the permission.
3

No development shall take place until a Construction Management Plan has been submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Construction Management
Plan shall include and specify the provision to be made for the following:


dust mitigation measures during the construction period



control of noise emanating from the site during the construction period



hours and days of construction work for the development



contractors' compounds and other storage arrangements



provision for all site operatives, visitors and construction loading, off-loading, parking
and turning within the site during the demolition/construction period



arrangements during the construction period to minimise the deposit of mud and
other similar debris on the adjacent highways



measures to prevent contamination of surface and sub-surface water bodies during
the construction period



routing of construction traffic

The construction of the development shall then proceed in full accordance with the
approved Construction Management Plan.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of surrounding residents and to safeguard the
character and appearance of the area in accordance with Policies LQ1 and BH3 of the
Blackpool Local Plan 2001-2016 and Policy CS7 of the Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core
Strategy 2012-2027.
4

Prior to the commencement of development, details of a sustainable surface water drainage
scheme and a foul water drainage scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The drainage schemes must include:
(i) An investigation of the hierarchy of drainage options in the National Planning Practice
Guidance (or any subsequent amendment thereof). This investigation shall include evidence
of an assessment of ground conditions and the potential for infiltration of surface water in
accordance with BRE365;
(ii) A restricted rate of discharge of surface water agreed with the local planning authority (if
it is agreed that infiltration is discounted by the investigations);
(iii) Levels of the proposed drainage systems including proposed ground and finished floor
levels in AOD;
(iv) Incorporate mitigation measures to manage the risk of sewer surcharge where
applicable; and
(v) Foul and surface water shall drain on separate systems.

Page 101

The approved schemes shall also be in accordance with the Non-Statutory Technical
Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015) or any subsequent replacement
national standards.
Prior to occupation of the proposed development, the drainage schemes shall be completed
in accordance with the approved details and retained thereafter for the lifetime of the
development.
Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage of sewage and
surface water and to manage the risk of flooding and pollution in accordance with the
provisions of the NPPF and NPPG and Policy CS9 of the Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core
Strategy 2012-2027 and the Blackburn, Blackpool and Lancashire Flood Risk Management
Strategy.
5

Prior to commencement of the development a sustainable drainage management and
maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development shall be submitted to the Local
Planning Authority and agreed in writing. The sustainable drainage management and
maintenance plan shall include as a minimum:
a) The arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory undertaker, or
management and maintenance by a Site Management Company;
b) Evidence of arrangements to transfer responsibility to other parties in the event of the
demise of any management company, for example by means of covenants;
c) Arrangements concerning appropriate funding mechanisms for its on-going maintenance
of all elements of the sustainable drainage system (including mechanical components) to
include elements such as:
(i) on-going inspections relating to performance and asset condition assessments
(ii) operational costs for regular maintenance, remedial works and irregular
maintenance caused by less sustainable limited life assets or any other arrangements
to secure the operation of the surface water drainage scheme throughout its
lifetime;
d) Means of access for maintenance and easements where applicable.
The development shall subsequently be completed, maintained and managed in accordance
with the approved plan. The developer shall provide to the Planning Authority, if requested,
certification of the condition of the drainage system by a competent person.
Reason: To manage flooding and pollution and to ensure that a managing body is in place for
the sustainable drainage system and there is funding and maintenance mechanism for the
lifetime of the development in accordance with Policy CS9 of the Blackpool Local Plan Part 1:
Core Strategy 2012-2027.

6

No development shall be commenced until a scheme of off-site highway works has been
submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. No flat shall be

Page 102

occupied until this scheme has been implemented in full. For the purposes of this condition
the works shall include :

upgrade of the rear access from Norcliffe Road up to junction of rear access road with
Chatsworth Avenue to adoptable standards (to include speed cushions)



street lighting to be upgraded at new entrance onto Norbreck Road and rear access
entrance from Norcliffe Road



provision of a vehicle and pedestrian access off Norbreck Road and the re-instatement of
pavement in place of any redundant crossing

Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy AS1 of the Blackpool
Local Plan 2001-2016. This scheme must be agreed prior to the commencement of works on
site in order to ensure that appropriate access is available once the scheme is operational.

7

Prior to the commencement of development the following details shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority;
(i) the arrangements for the transfer of the affordable housing to an affordable housing
provider (if no RSL involved);
(ii) the arrangements to ensure that such provision is affordable for both first and
subsequent occupiers of the affordable housing; and
(iii) the occupancy criteria to be used for determining the identity of occupiers of the
affordable housing and the means by which such occupancy criteria shall be enforced.
The affordable dwellings shall be affordable housing for rent as defined in Annex 2 of the
National Planning Policy Framework 2021.
Reason: In order to meet the identified affordable housing needs of the borough and
because it is the affordable nature of the accommodation that has weighed sufficiently in the
planning balance as to justify the grant of planning permission for this scheme as detailed in
the approved plans, in accordance with the provisions of the NPPF and Policy CS14 of the
Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 2012-2027. These details must be agreed prior to
the commencement of works on as it is fundamental to the acceptability of the
development.

8

No apartment shall be occupied other than be a person of 55 years of age or over, or as part
of a household where at least one person is of 55 years of age or over.
Reason: In order to meet the identified housing needs of the borough and because the
nature of the accommodation that has weighed sufficiently in the planning balance as to
justify the grant of planning permission for this scheme as detailed in the approved plans, in
accordance with the provisions of the NPPF and Policies CS12, CS13 and CS14 of the
Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 2012-2027 and emerging Policy DM3 of the
Blackpool Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management Policies
Document.

Page 103

9

Notwithstanding the submitted details, the external materials to be used on the
development hereby approved shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority prior to the commencement of any above ground construction and the
development shall thereafter proceed in full accordance with these approved details.
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the site and streetscene in accordance with
Policy CS7 of the Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 2012-2027 and Policies LQ1 and
LQ4 of the Blackpool Local Plan 2001-2016.

10

Prior to the commencement of any above ground construction, the profile details of the
development hereby approved shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority and the development shall thereafter proceed in full accordance with
these agreed details. For the purpose of this condition, the profile details shall show to the
extent of recession or projection of windows, doors and other architectural features of the
building.
Reason: In order to secure appropriate visual articulation and interest in accordance with
Policy CS7 of the Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 2012-2027 and Policies LQ1 and
LQ4 of the Blackpool Local Plan 2001-2016.

11

The boundary treatments to be used on the development hereby approved shall be
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the
commencement of any above ground construction and the development shall thereafter
proceed in full accordance with these approved details.
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the site and streetscene in accordance with
Policy CS7 of the Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 2012-2027 and Policy LQ1 of the
Blackpool Local Plan 2001-2016.

12

Prior to the first occupation or use of the development hereby approved:
(a) a landscaping scheme shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. This scheme shall include a full planting schedule detailing plant species and initial
plant sizes, numbers and densities;
(b) the landscaping scheme agreed pursuant to part (a) of this condition shall be
implemented in full and in full accordance with the approved details; and
(c) Any trees or plants planted in accordance with this condition that are removed, uprooted,
destroyed, die or become severely damaged or seriously diseased within 7 years of planting
shall be replaced within the next planting season with trees or plants of similar size and
species to those originally required unless otherwise first submitted to and agreed in writing
by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that the site is satisfactorily landscaped in the interests of visual amenity,
to ensure there are adequate areas of soft landscaping to act as a soakaway during times of
heavy rainfall and to promote biodiversity in accordance with Policies CS7 and CS9 of the
Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 2012-2027 and Policies LQ1 and LQ6 of the
Blackpool Local Plan 2001-2016.

Page 104

13

Prior to the commencement of any above ground construction, a scheme of ecological
enhancement shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority
and the development shall thereafter proceed in full accordance with this approved scheme.
For the purpose of this condition, the scheme of ecological enhancement shall include:


Native hedge and tree planting



Provision of bird and bat boxes



Features to facilitate roaming of small mammals

Reason: In order to safeguard and enhance biodiversity in accordance with Policy CS6 of the
Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 2012-2027 and Policies LQ6 and NE6 of the
Blackpool Local Plan 2001-2016.

14

Details of the location of two 7kW (as a minimum) electric vehicle charging points to serve
the development shall be submitted to and agreed by the Local Planning Authority. Prior to
first occupation of any of the apartments, the agreed provision of electric vehicle charging
infrastructure shall be provided in full and shall thereafter be retained and maintained as
such.
Reason: In order to ensure that adequate EV charging provision is available to meet the
needs of the development, to facilitate the transition to more sustainable, low carbon modes
of transport and in the interests of highway safety, in accordance with paragraph 110 part e)
of the National Planning Policy Framework, Policy CS10 of the Blackpool Local Plan Part 1:
Core Strategy 2012-2027, Saved Policy AS1 of the Blackpool Local Plan 2001-2016 and
emerging Policy DM41 of the Blackpool Local Plan, Part 2: Site Allocations and Development
Management Policies document.

15

Prior to the development hereby approved being first brought into use, the parking provision
shown on the approved plan(s) shall be provided and shall thereafter be retained as such.
Reason: In order to ensure that adequate parking provision is available to meet the needs of
the development in the interests of the appearance of the area and highway safety in
accordance with Policy CS7 of the Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 2012-2027 and
Policies LQ1 and AS1 of the Blackpool Local Plan 2001-2016.

16

(a) The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until a travel plan has been
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The travel Plan shall include:


appointment of a travel co-ordinator



proposals for surveying



production of travel audits



establishment of a working group

Page 105



an action plan



timescales for implementation



targets for implementation

(b) The development hereby approved shall then proceed and be operated in full accordance
with the approved Travel Plan.
Reason: In order to encourage travel to and from the site by sustainable transport modes in
accordance with Policy AS1 of the Blackpool Local Plan 2001-2016.
17

The glazing in the west elevation as identified on plan ref. JBA506-PL-008 Rev E shall be at all
times obscure glazed to a level of 5 (where 1 is entirely transparent and 5 is entirely
obscured).
Reason: In order to safeguard the privacy of nearby residents in accordance with Policy CS7
of the Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 2012-2027 and Policy BH3 of the Blackpool
Local Plan 2001-2016.

18

Before the development hereby approved is first brought into use:
(a) details of refuse storage provision to include size, design and materials shall be submitted
to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority; and
(b) the refuse storage agreed pursuant to part (a) of this condition shall be implemented in
full and in full accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In the interest of the appearance of the site and locality and to safeguard the
amenities of nearby residents in accordance with Policy CS7 of the Blackpool Local Plan Part
1: Core Strategy 2012-2027 and Policies LQ1 and BH3 of the Blackpool Local Plan 2001-2016.

19

Prior to the installation of any external lighting, details of the lighting shall be submitted to
and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the development shall thereafter
proceed in full accordance with these approved details. For the purpose of this condition, the
details shall include the form, design, materials and technical specification of the lighting and
a lux plan to show the resulting area of light-spill.
Reason: In the interest of the appearance of the site and locality and to safeguard the
amenities of nearby residents in accordance with Policy CS7 of the Blackpool Local Plan Part
1: Core Strategy 2012-2027 and Policies LQ1 and BH3 of the Blackpool Local Plan 2001-2016.

20

The accommodation shall be used for permanent residential occupation within Class C3 of
the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended) only and for no other
purpose.
Reason: In order to safeguard the living conditions of the occupants of nearby residential
properties and the character of the area in accordance with Policies CS7, CS12 and CS23 of

Page 106

the Blackpool Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 2012-2027 and Policies BH3 of the Blackpool
Local Plan 2001-2016.

Page 107

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 11a: 21/1062 – 8 Norbreck Road

Location Plan

Plan of the Norbreck Road elevation, comparing the previously approved schemes and the Mariners

Proposed North elevation and streetscene

Page 109

Proposed rear (south) elevation

Proposed east elevation

Proposed west elevation

Page 110

Proposed site plan and ground floor plan

Proposed first and second floor plan

Page 111

Proposed third and fourth floor plan

Page 112

